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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  This is the Senate Health and Human Services’ informational committee hearing on “Childhood Immunization Mandates:  Politics vs. Public Health.”  


I want to encourage Members who will be joining us to do so.  To our speakers and our guests, I apologize:  We’re on a very contracted time period here in the Legislature and Members are hopping committees.  I’m confident we’ll be joined by my colleagues soon.  This is certainly my request to have them join us.  


We will go ahead and proceed.  We do have a bit of a timeline.  We have lots of really important information, and I want to make sure that we get through all of this.  It’s all valuable information. 


Once again, I want to welcome all of you and begin this hearing today.  Again, this is an informational hearing only.  There are no bills to be heard today.  This hearing, really, was the subject of much debate in last year’s session as we saw two or three measures before us on the question of mandated vaccinations.  It raised a lot of issues and, as a result of that, we thought a pause with an informational hearing would be of great value to guide our membership.  As a result of those bills bringing that to our attention, particularly as it relates to preventable diseases, we were faced with a question of new school mandates.


The committee chose to hold two of those bills – AB 182, which was Assemblyman Vargas’ bill, on hepatitis A; and AB 1354 on pneumococcal infection, which is, I understand, Assemblymember Pescetti’s bill.  As a result of holding those bills in committee, after this informational hearing I believe our Members will be more informed because I think there are a lot of unanswered questions.  Hopefully we’ll be able to address those issues.


As outlined in the agenda and the background document, the committee’s concerns cover a wide range of issues, including everything from what we need to mandate vaccines as policymakers, when they’re being widely administered anyway, and what evidence is there that there are too many vaccines – is one school of thought – which may be harmful to children; and, two, who is it in California who is most affected by these diseases?  Those are just some of the issues that were raised, and there are others.


I’d like to take a moment to go over the format of today’s hearing.  As indicated on the agenda, for the first hour of the hearing we will take formal testimony from our invited witnesses – the nine of you that are here.  I’m going to then ask Members – and I’ll repeat this admonition when we’re joined by other Members – to hold their questions during your portion and your presentation of the hearing.  The second hour will be the panel discussion, also with the nine witnesses that are before us, and then we’ll have lots of opportunity to ask the questions.  But I’d like all of you to be able to get through your presentations without interruption.


I’m looking forward to the discussion.  You know that there will probably be some disagreement among the witnesses, and it will be really helpful for us, even if we have strongly divergent opinions, to allow the discussion and the issues to be raised and the responses around those issues.  I know that usually is done and I’m confident it’ll be done, but I want to make sure that testimony is able to be presented.  Upon conclusion of the panel discussion, and provided that we haven’t run too late, I would welcome public comment at that time.


I’m not sure if Assemblymember Vargas has joined us.  I do understand he has been invited to be a part of the panel.  So, when he comes and joins us, hopefully we’ll be able to allow him to participate in this as well.


Let me just mention one of the bills that was referenced earlier, Assemblymember Pescetti has indicated to the committee that he does not intend to pursue his bill, and that was AB 1354.  So, for those of you who are in the audience – welcome, Senator Chesbro – he has decided not to pursue that measure this year.  That bill, as some of you may recall, would have mandated vaccination against pneumococcal disease.  My understanding is that the decision relates to the current shortage of the vaccine; an issue which I’m sure will come up later in the discussion and the agenda.


I have been joined by Senator Wesley Chesbro.  I will allow him the opportunity for opening comments, if he chooses to weigh in.  I see that Assemblymember Vargas has joined us.  You should feel free to join us up here, if you would like, to do some brief opening comments, and then we’ll go over the panel after Senator Chesbro’s comments.


Welcome.  Thank you for joining us.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  You’re welcome.  I’m just looking forward to hearing what you all have to say.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  I love it when we’re brief.


Welcome, Assemblymember Vargas.  I went over the format for today, but I did want to give you an opportunity to join us.  Of course, one of your bills was one that raised a lot of the issues.  I welcome you and I offer you to do some opening comments, and then, hopefully, we can then move into the panel discussion.


Thank you for joining us.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JUAN VARGAS:  Thank you.  I just want to thank you for giving me the opportunity to be here.  I really appreciate you doing this, and I look forward to hearing what the panel has to say.  


Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


All right.  Members, thank you for joining me.  Once again, it’s time for our witnesses, and I believe our first witness is Dr. Blumberg.


Welcome, Dr. Blumberg.


Members, you have some background information in your packets on our speakers today and the format.  After the panel presentation is complete, we’re going to have an opportunity for questions and answers in the second part.  


Welcome again.


DR. DEAN BLUMBERG:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, committee members, and Assemblyman Vargas.  Thank you for inviting me to testify at this hearing.


My name is Dr. Dean Blumberg.  I am an associate professor of Pediatric Infectious Diseases at UC Davis Medical Center, here in Sacramento.  Today, I’m here to testify on behalf of the California Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics, representing more than 5,000 board-certified pediatrician members here in California.


Vaccine-preventable diseases such as measles, whooping cough, and bacterial meningitis are dangerous and may be lethal.  These diseases may cause prolonged absences from school, hospitalization, brain damage, and disfigurement.


I’m not going to show you shocking or disturbing illustrations of these diseases.  However, as you mentioned, Senator Ortiz, there are examples in this booklet and the packet that was distributed to you prior to today’s hearing.


There are many vaccine-preventable diseases that are so well controlled with our current immunization practices that we scarcely think about them.  Diseases such as diphtheria and polio have largely been eliminated because of widespread vaccination.  Smallpox used to kill millions every year; and because it has been eliminated, we no longer routinely give childhood smallpox vaccine.  More recently in the last decade, there’s been a dramatic decline in severe disease such as meningitis and bacteremia and sepsis due to a bacterium known as Hib.  Ten years ago, about 400 children in California suffered severe Hib infections every year, and this resulted in death and disability.  Now, because of widespread vaccination, there are less than 10 cases per year.


All routinely used vaccines are safe.  These vaccines are studied intensively on thousands of children before they’re recommended, and some vaccines are studied on hundreds of thousands of children prior to licensure.  Because of the FDA’s strict oversight, we have the safest vaccines in the world in this country.  Vaccines and vaccine schedules are constantly being improved and modified.  Over the past few years, the recommended childhood immunization schedule has changed so that oral polio vaccine is no longer given to children; pertussis vaccines that are better tolerated are used; and we’ve added important new vaccines against pneumococcus and against chickenpox.


All the routinely used vaccines are effective.  They either prevent infection entirely or reduce the severity of disease.  In addition, high immunization rates reduce circulation infectious agents, and therefore, that results in protection and less risk of infection for all.


Our current vaccine mandates are critical in maintaining high immunization rates.  Widespread vaccination results in less childhood infections from vaccine-preventable diseases.  Children have less illnesses.  This reduces their hospitalization and reduces deaths due to these vaccine-preventable diseases.  Widespread vaccination results in healthier children.  This allows them to go about their routine activities, such as going to school, easier.  We need to assure that our children’s education is not hampered by their health.  All the routinely recommended vaccines are also cost-effective, so that vaccination saves money by preventing illness and preventing hospitalization.


In a report published just today in the Journal of the American Medical Association, the Center for Disease Control (CDC) reports that rubella, also known as German measles, has been almost completely wiped out from this country.  Rubella can cause serious birth defects in children whose mothers are exposed to the disease while pregnant.  Widespread immunization with rubella vaccine, sometimes as part of the measles, mumps, rubella (MMR) vaccine, has led the way so that instead of hundreds of children being born every year with birth defects, such as brain damage, heart defects, and deafness from rubella, they’re now born healthy.


Despite our successes with vaccination, there’s more work that needs to be done.  I believe that childhood vaccine mandates should be strengthened in order to assure that all parents are educated about the benefits of immunization.  We need to increase immunization rates.  More resources should be provided to our public health workers.  Immunization tracking systems have multiple benefits, including making it easier to increase vaccination rates, and these should be supported as well.


The CDC has recognized immunization as the number one public health achievement over the past one hundred years.  We need to continue strengthening of our support for public health measures.  We have laws against drunk driving.  Drunk driving laws are aimed to protect the drunk driver as well as to protect other drivers and pedestrians.  Similarly, vaccine mandates serve to protect the individuals who are vaccinated and also to protect the public by decreasing circulation of these preventable diseases.


Parents who don’t immunize their own children place other people’s children at increased risk for diseases that are highly contagious and dangerous.  California’s immunization mandates support the priority of vaccines and reinforce their importance.  Increasing vaccination rates is good investment in our children and a good investment in their future.


As part of my practice, I see children who have severe infections, and many of these infections are vaccine-preventable.  I remember one patient in particular just last year who died from whooping cough.  Her name was Amanda.  She was two months old.  She wasn’t old enough yet to be protected against whooping cough – or pertussis.  She got it from her older sister.  Her older sister was not vaccinated against pertussis.  She gave it to this child who coughed so severely she couldn’t get enough oxygen.  Her brain got damaged and then she died.  


This is a preventable disease, and it breaks my heart to see children dying from these preventable diseases when we have the tools available to us.  Vaccines are safe.  Vaccines are effective.  And childhood vaccinations save lives.  


I look forward to working with you to increase the childhood immunization rates in California to assure that California children are as healthy as possible.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Blumberg, for your comments.  I appreciate that you worked through your testimony very quickly.  If all the speakers are as timely as you are, we can actually have time for very concentrated questions, which we’ll all have a few.


For Members who weren’t here earlier, we’re going to go ahead and move through the speakers first, and then when we enter in the second part, the panel discussion, then we can raise questions for speakers – if you could hold your questions until then.


Ms. Fisher is next.  Welcome.


MS. BARBARA LOE FISHER:  Senator Ortiz and members of the committee, thank you for inviting me to participate in this hearing on the politics and public health issues involved in vaccine mandates.  This is the first hearing of its kind in any state that I’m aware of, and, as usual, California is leading the way in looking at progressive ways to address the very real healthcare concerns of citizens.


My name is Barbara Loe Fisher, and I’m appearing here on behalf of the 4,500 California parent and health professional members of the National Vaccine Information Center, which is a 40,000-member, national nonprofit organization founded in 1982 by parents of vaccine-injured children.  My organization worked with Congress in the 1980s to create the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986, and we were instrumental in helping to obtain the safer DTaP vaccine licensed in 1996 for America’s babies.  Our mission is to prevent vaccine injuries and deaths through public education, and we support the availability of vaccines for all who want to use them.  But we also endorse the ethical principle of informed consent and believe that the zealous enforcement of vaccine mandates threatens that principle.


My twenty-year experience as a vaccine safety consumer advocate includes coauthorship of the 1985 book, DPT:  A Shot in the Dark, which was used as a reference by the Institute of Medicine in its historic reports on vaccine adverse events in 1991 and 1994, as well as appointments to the National Vaccine Advisory Committee in 1988 and the Institute of Medicine Vaccine Safety Forum in 1995.  I am currently the consumer voting member of the FDA Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee.


Personally, I come here as a parent of a son who had a neurological reaction to his fourth DPT shot at age two-and-a-half that caused brain dysfunction, including multiple learning disabilities and attention deficit disorder, but who was fortunate enough not to lose his life or be left with mental retardation, uncontrolled epilepsy, autism, or other severe disabilities like so many of the vaccine-injured children I’ve come to know.


When my son had his vaccine reaction in 1980, children in America were told to get 23 doses of 7 vaccines.  Today, children are told to get 37 doses of 11 vaccines.  In those twenty-two years since my son had his vaccine reaction, the number of American children with learning disabilities, attention deficit disorder, and asthma have doubled, diabetes has tripled, and the incidence of autism has reached epidemic proportions:  increasing 200 to 600 percent in every state, marking a staggering 3,400 percent increase in the prevalence of autism in our children.  


Nobody knows why this has happened, but everyone at the Centers for Disease Control and American Academy of Pediatrics – the two medical groups that make vaccine policy in this country – vigorously deny that the many vaccines they have urged be mandated in the past quarter century have anything to do with why more and more of our children are chronically ill.  They say that vaccines only rarely cause chronic health problems.  Yet, the haunting question remains:  If we have wiped out polio and almost eliminated measles, mumps, rubella, and whooping cough and other childhood diseases with vaccines, why are so many of our children stuck on sick?  Why are our special education classrooms so crowded that we can’t find enough money or train teachers fast enough to care for these learning-disabled, hyperactive, autistic, asthmatic, diabetic, emotionally disturbed, sick children?  


Something is wrong with this public health report card.  Before we go any further and mandate one more vaccine for day-care or kindergarten entry, whether it’s Prevnar or hepatitis A or some other vaccine, we had better find out if the repeated manipulation of the immune system with lab-altered viruses and bacteria, adulterated with mercury, aluminum, formaldehyde and other toxins, which are administered to our babies from birth through the first five years of life, when the brain and the immune system is developing at its most rapid rate, is contributing to these skyrocketing increases in chronic illness in our children.  


Without basic science research into the biological mechanisms of vaccine injury and death, and without methodologically-sound, long-term studies which follow groups of highly vaccinated, lesser vaccinated, and unvaccinated children over time, to measure for all morbidity and mortality outcomes, it is illogical and scientifically irresponsible to assume that there is no connection between the ever-increasing numbers of vaccines we mandate for our children and the ever-increasing rates of chronic disease in our children.  


Making this kind of scientific investigation a societal program and funding priority would, at the very least, give us a better understanding of the genetic and other biological factors which predispose certain children to vaccine-induced immune and brain dysfunction, including whether there is a complex interaction between genetic factors, a particular vaccine, or a combination of vaccines, and simultaneous exposure to environmental contaminants such as pesticides, mold, and other toxic insults.


I understand that you’re looking into whether the process for mandating childhood vaccines in California could be improved.  You have a difficult job to do because, when you make laws, you often rely upon expert advice in areas where you don’t feel like you have enough expertise.  Medicine is an area where a lot of us don’t feel like we have the knowledge or expertise to make independent decisions.


As a mother who graduated from college but never went to medical school or got a Ph.D., I urge you not to totally defer to the experts on this one.  You are smart or you wouldn’t have been elected.  As legislators, you educate yourself about everything from freeway construction to pollution, to the death penalty.  Those are complex issues like this one, and it doesn’t take a medical degree to tell the difference between a good scientific study and a bad one.


I voted “no” when I was asked in 1999, as the consumer member of an FDA committee, to vote on whether Wyeth Lederle, the manufacturer of Prevnar, had proved the vaccine is safe.  I was the only “no” vote, but I voted “no” with confidence.  I remembered being taught in high school science class that when correctly employing the scientific method to prove a hypothesis in an experiment, you cannot compare two unknowns.  The Prevnar prelicensure clinical trials, which Wyeth Lederle paid Kaiser Permanente to conduct, compared two experimental vaccines against each other.  


To compound this basic methodological flaw, Kaiser and Wyeth Lederle allowed most of the children in the trial to be given the more reactive DPT vaccine rather than use the safer, less reactive DTaP vaccine.  This placed the children in that five-year experiment in greater danger and allowed the drug company to write off the seizures that occurred as being caused by DPT and not Prevnar when, in fact, they didn’t know.  Even so, the groups of children who got Prevnar suffered more seizures, higher fevers, more irritability, and other reactions than did the children who got the other experimental vaccine.  It was a no-brainer, as far as I was concerned.  Kaiser and Wyeth Lederle had proved nothing about Prevnar vaccine safety.


And another question:  Why did the CDC’s policymaking committee vote to recommend universal use of Prevnar by all children before the FDA committee even got a chance to review the data and take a vote about whether it should be licensed at all?  The same thing happened with the ill-fated rotavirus vaccine for infant diarrhea that was pulled off the market in 1999 – less than a year after it was released – because it was causing bowel obstruction in babies.  The CDC had voted to recommend that all babies get rotavirus vaccine weeks before the FDA committee even got a chance to vote on Prevnar.  


Wyeth Lederle and Kaiser Permanente officials were being quoted in national press releases that Prevnar was an ear infection vaccine, when their own trial data showed that the vaccine only decreased a child’s chance of getting an ear infection by 7 percent.  The FDA has never licensed Prevnar as an ear infection vaccine, but lots of doctors in America tell parents it is, because that’s how the vaccine was promoted.  No wonder Prevnar vaccine was the number one, best-selling, new pharmaceutical introduced to the market in the year 2000, generating more than $450 million for Wyeth Lederle that year.


Which brings us to the uncomfortable issue of conflicts of interest that exist when experts who sit on vaccine advisory committees also get paid by vaccine manufacturers to conduct clinical trials on vaccines they make themselves.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Loe Fisher, I apologize, but we did want speakers to try to stay within five minutes, and we’ve been more than generous.  If you could go through some highlights and sort of wrap up your testimony, maybe we can address some of those points in the second part of the panel.


MS. LOE FISHER:  All right.  I was going to make the point about the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System.  Less than 10 percent, perhaps less than one percent, of all reports are made by doctors.  The 3,000 Prevnar vaccine adverse 

events – the 2,500 hepatitis A vaccine adverse events – therefore could be much greater than actually is being reported.  


I was going to go into the part about coincidence, that they say it’s all a coincidence, when they really don’t know if in any given case a child has been injured by a vaccine.


I guess you can read the rest of my testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s been handed out.


MS. LOE FISHER:  It has been handed out to you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Members, it’s AB 182 Information Hearing.  


I apologize, but we did want to schedule all the speakers for five minutes.  That way we can get through the testimony, so if you would please wrap up.  We do have your testimony and that’s helpful.


MS. LOE FISHER:  I would just like to make the last point that informed consent has been the ethical standard that’s governed the medical procedure that carry risk of injury or death, and that we advocate that you do not eliminate the religious and philosophical exemption of vaccination, because they are attempting to eliminate it in other states and parents are being interrogated by health officials about their religious beliefs and the exemptions that are being taken.  The parents could then be charged with child abuse and the children could be taken from them.


This is one of the reasons that I came 3,000 miles to testify here, was to defend the informed consent ethic.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  I don’t believe there’s any effort to statutorily change the exemption currently provided.  So, I can give you an assurance it’s yet to reach this policy committee on something that significant.  


You’ll have an opportunity to finish the rest of your testimony, and I do appreciate that.  We just want to make sure that we get through everybody.


And Members, I encourage you to go through Ms. Loe Fisher’s written testimony to structure your questions when we get to the second part of the panel.


So, I thank you.  I know it’s a difficult position to present, and I appreciate you working with our time commitments.


MS. LOE FISHER:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We’ve been joined by Senator Figueroa as well as Senator Kuehl.  I welcome them.  Unless there are opening comments, we were hoping to get through the panelists.  In the second part we can structure our questions.  Thank you.


Our third speaker is Dr. Philip Rosenthal.  Welcome.


I hate to be a taskmaster, but we are trying to stick to a five-minute rule, and I probably should have let you all know in the beginning.


DR. PHILIP ROSENTHAL:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the committee.  Thank you again for allowing me the opportunity to provide testimony here today.  


My name is Dr. Philip Rosenthal.  I am a professor of pediatrics and surgery and the medical director of the Pediatric Liver Transplant Program at the University of California San Francisco Medical Center.  I’m providing testimony today on behalf of the American Liver Foundation, a leading national voluntary health agency dedicated to preventing, treating, and curing hepatitis and other liver diseases through research education and advocacy.  


As a member of the American Liver Foundation’s Children’s Liver Council, I work closely with the organization on public health matters pertaining to hepatitis A.  In addition, I am president of the American Liver Foundation’s Northern California Chapter and, as such, I also am representing our organization’s three California chapters.  These are in San Francisco, Los Angeles, and San Diego.  In total, a nationwide network of nearly thirty American Liver Foundation Chapters represent and reinforce our efforts at the grassroots level.  I’m providing testimony about hepatitis A and the hepatitis A vaccine today.  


Hepatitis A is a serious viral infection of the liver that is highly contagious.  Each year approximately 180,000 Americans are infected with the virus that causes hepatitis A, and it is believed that many more cases go significantly underreported.  Historically, we have realized a very high rate of hepatitis A in California.  In fact, our state is the single largest contributor to the disease problem in the U.S., with almost 25 percent of the nation’s total hepatitis A cases occurring here.  


While the incidence of hepatitis A in our state has been on the decline, it is critically important to remember that the incidence of hepatitis A is cyclical.  In communities with historically high rates of hepatitis A, such as California, epidemics typically are cyclical – occurring every five to ten years – according to the CDC.  Such epidemics can last years and, during that time, thousands of individuals can be affected.  According to CDC, the peak incidence during these epidemics is generally greater than 700 cases per 100,000 population.  


Highest rates of hepatitis A occur among children aged 5 to 14 years.  The younger the child, the more likely that he or she will have an unrecognized, asymptomatic infection, thereby serving as a source of infection for others, particularly those not protected by vaccination.  Adults usually experience more severe illness than children when they are infected with the hepatitis A virus and, on average, miss about a month from work due to the serious consequences of hepatitis A.  Despite the licensure of a safe and effective vaccine in 1995, hepatitis A continues to be one of the most frequently reported vaccine-preventable diseases in the U.S.


In 1999, the CDC published the hepatitis A immunization recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for the routine vaccination of children in states, counties, and communities with rates that were twice the ’87 to ’97 national average.  The American Academy of Family Physicians, the American Academy of Pediatrics, and the American Liver Foundation support these ACIP recommendations.


As published by the CDC at that time, California’s rate was greater than the 20 cases per 100,000 people, or twice the national average, making California a prime candidate for routine hepatitis A immunization as recommended by CDC.  In fact, a study published in the JAMA – the Journal of the American Medical Association – just last month actually demonstrates the feasibility and effectiveness of routine childhood hepatitis A vaccination and its impact on community-wide rates of disease in our state and other communities that experience hepatitis A outbreaks.  And that article is in your packets.  


The six-year study involved a community-based demonstration project from January 12, 1995 through December 21, 2000 in Butte County, in California’s San Joaquin Valley.  During this study, which was conducted by CDC, vaccination was offered to children aged 2 to 12 during vaccination clinics conducted at most schools in the county on two occasions, six to twelve months apart, during 1995.  From 1996 to 2000, vaccine was distributed to community healthcare clinicians who vaccinated eligible children without charge.  Vaccine was also available at health department clinics, selected child care centers, and other sites.  During the study period, 66.2 percent of an estimated 44,982 eligible children received at least one vaccine dose, and 39.3 percent received a second dose.


The number of hepatitis A cases among the entire county population declined a whopping 93.5 percent during the study period, from 57 cases in 1995 to only 4 cases in 2000 – the lowest number of cases reported in the county since hepatitis A surveillance began in 1966.  The 2000 incidence rate of 1.9 per 100,000 population was the lowest of any county in the state of California.  Of the 245 cases reporting during this six-year period, 40 – or 16.3 percent – occurred among children 17 years of age or younger, of which 16 occurred in 1995 and only one in 2000.  


The results of this study showed that the estimated protective vaccine efficacy was 98 percent, and no serious adverse events were reported among the vaccine recipients, supporting the safety of the vaccine.


In closing, I would like to briefly touch on the questions regarding hepatitis A reflected in today’s agenda, knowing that there will be a more thorough discussion of these issues as the panel discussion proceeds.


Why immunize in California when rates seem to be declining?  Some may question why we need to implement a routine childhood hepatitis A immunization policy in California.  The answer is quite simple:  Just one case of hepatitis A can result in a community-wide outbreak that can affect hundreds and even thousands of other people.


Who is not getting vaccinated?  Children aged 5 to 14 – the group with the highest rate of HAV infection – are not getting vaccinated in our state due to the absence of any immunization program that would ensure their protection against this disease.  These children serve as a reservoir for infection of their siblings, other family members, and other members of their community.


In what parts of the state are rates high or low and for what reasons?  The incidence of hepatitis A in California is not simply a matter of demographics.  In the first six months of 2001 – and again, you have some of that data in the packets – the state reported 944 cases of hepatitis A.  Solano County, with 108 cases, or a rate of 54.75 per 100,000, in the first six months of 2001, had a very high rate of 

hepatitis A – the highest in the state.  Besides Solano County, the other counties with more than 5 cases and rates over 10 during the first six months of 2001 were Stanislaus and San Joaquin counties.  Those with between 5 and 9.99 per 100,000 were Fresno, Imperial, Kern, Los Angeles, Marin, Orange, Riverside, San Mateo, Tulare, and Yolo counties.


California’s hepatitis A rates were the highest in its children and in its adult males during this time.  The high incidence in adult males probably reflects the cases reported in its gay and illegal drug using population.  Very important to note is that the state’s reported cases of hepatitis A were about two times higher in its Hispanic population than in its non-Hispanic population.


Is education taking place and is it enough?  Education is a key factor in reducing risk factors associated with any disease, particularly one like hepatitis A that can involve lifestyle factors, and more education in our state about hepatitis is sorely needed.  However, because hepatitis A is most often without symptoms in the group that it affects the most – young children – education will never be enough.  That is why a routine immunization program would play such a critical role in eliminating this disease in California.


Are children better off developing lifelong immunity to mild diseases?  As medical director of the Pediatric Liver Transplant Program, I know all too well the serious medical, emotional, and financial consequences that can be exacted by this vaccine-preventable disease.  There is no public health benefit associated with a child’s exposure to this disease.  The impact of this disease is too far-reaching and potentially life-threatening to so many others.


Thank you very much for allowing me the opportunity to speak today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you very much.  You went a bit over five minutes but you rushed through it, so thank you.  I’m going to be the taskmaster here.  I will have questions on your presentation, but thank you.


Members, just so that you’re guided through the stack of paperwork here, I believe your purple folder contains Dr. Rosenthal’s testimony.


Ms. Loe Fisher, I misspoke earlier on the document, but this document folder should have the information of Ms. Loe Fisher, because we were not able to have her go through her testimony completely.


Dr. Gitnick is our next speaker.  Welcome.


DR. GARY GITNICK:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz and members of the committee, and thank you for allowing me to appear before you.  I’d like to take a moment to describe my background.  My background will take only a moment.  


I am vice president of the Medical Board of California.  I am president of the Division of Medical Licensing for the state of California.  I’m professor of medicine and chief of the Division of Digestive Diseases at the UCLA School of Medicine and, in that capacity, I oversee the largest liver program in the world.  I am former chief of the Vaccine Development Unit at the National Institutes of Health.  My first fourteen manuscripts dealt with rubella virus vaccine.  My research career for the past 34 years has dealt primarily with viral hepatitis.  I am not paid by any vaccine manufacturer.


I would like to make, in my discussion, three points.


The first point is that hepatitis A is a cyclical infection in any population.  It is in the normal course of this kind of virulent disease that the prominence of the disease in a population will fall and then surely will rise.  It will always be cyclical.


Second, the risk of hepatitis A to adults in the state of California is significant, if one considers those adults who are chronically infected with hepatitis B and hepatitis C.  There are 600,000 people in California infected either with hepatitis B or hepatitis C.


Third, the economic impact of vaccination favors the use of hepatitis A vaccine.  The return to the state in cost would be a two-for-one return of cost.


Let me say that the Medical Board considers access to health care and public health as two interrelated issues and of great concern to our Board members.  As you may know, we are a new board.  We are fully aware of our mandate to protect the interests of the people who reside in our state.  It is only for that reason that I am here today.


I believe that long-term health costs will be reduced with preventive medicine, such as vaccinations of entry-level school children.  For example, last year you, and we, supported the chlamydia bill, allowing a partner to receive treatment without being seen by a physician, to reduce the incidence of transmission of this disease.  I believe that prevention of outbreaks of hepatitis A will allow more healthcare dollars and time to be focused on other illnesses and will provide health care in locations that need physicians that would otherwise be diverted.


You have heard Dr. Rosenthal discuss the impact of hepatitis A virus on children.  I will not repeat his messages.  But I do wish to discuss the impact of hepatitis A on adults in the state of California.  Adults usually experience more severe illness than do children when they’re infected with the virus.  On average, they miss about a month of work due to the serious consequences of hepatitis A.  According to the Centers for Disease Control, “Children play an important role in hepatitis A transmission and serve as a source of infection for others.”  


In one study of adults without any identified source of infection, 52 percent of the households included a child less than six years old which was associated with hepatitis A transmission.  Hepatitis A is preventable by vaccine, but there is no treatment for hepatitis A once a person becomes infected.  If it infects adults with chronic hepatitis B or with chronic hepatitis C, their course will be worsened.  Five hundred thousand people in California are infected chronically with hepatitis C.  One hundred thousand people in California are chronically infected with hepatitis B.


Historically, California has realized a high rate of hepatitis A infection.  It is the single largest contributor to the disease problem in the United States, with almost 25 percent of the nation’s total hepatitis A cases occurring in our state.  California was included among the eleven states identified by the Centers for Disease Control that should initiate “widespread, routine vaccination of children to prevent infection in these age groups and eventually among older persons.”


Is my time okay?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I believe you’ve gone over a bit.  Maybe you could try to wrap up, and hopefully we can ask some questions.


DR. GITNICK:  Very well.


The economic impact of hepatitis A is significant.  The costs are equally significant.  The average cost of hepatitis A ranges from approximately $1,800 to $2,400 per case, per adult.  A common source outbreak among 43 persons was reported as costing $800,000 several years ago.  The estimated annual costs of hepatitis A in our country are $300 million, remembering that 20 to 25 percent of the cases occur in our state.  


We are, in fact, the biggest contributor.  Economic data have now been published which show important economic mandates.  A dollar spent on hepatitis A vaccination in California saves $2.09.  In other words, California will gain $2.09 in economic benefits for every dollar spent on vaccinations.  However, these are long-term figures.  It will take twelve years to recoup the investment.


I’ll be happy to go on later.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  I do want to get through all the testimony.  I know I’m going to have some questions, but I’ll hold off until later.


Dr. Prendergast is our next speaker.  


Welcome, Dr. Prendergast.


DR. THOMAS PRENDERGAST:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And again, if you could try to stay within five minutes, or a little bit over, that would be appreciated.


DR. PRENDERGAST:  Okay.  This is one of the many opportunities I get to speak publicly where I can hardly wait to get started and find out what I’m going to say.  This is not a canned delivery.  Mostly, I think I’ll try to make some very direct points about what I believe was the major purpose in holding this hearing, and that is, how should policy decisions about things like hepatitis A and Prevnar and others be made in California and to try to determine whether it’s time or whether it’s appropriate to use the school mandates as a way to enforce immunization policy.  


California Conference of Local Health Officers consists of the health officers from the fifty-eight counties and three cities in the state, which has a statutory role to be advisory to the Legislature and to commissions and committees within the state and to the Department of Health Services.  The alternative model that we’ve heard about is, if the Legislature was not going to do this directly, that somehow it would be either through acts of regulation by the Department or through, perhaps, the establishment of some kind of separate commission which would consider and make recommendations.


The health officers are very concerned about how this works.  We are the place where we have to consider both the cost of a vaccine delivery system and the public health benefits of having a system in place that works, and hopefully works optimally, when we can do that.


I think, on balance, the public debate that takes place when the Legislature deals with these issues, and the fact that the potential for the creation of recognition of the funding problem that comes along with the recognition of the vaccine approval, is basically, as far as we can tell, probably most appropriately addressed by the Legislature.


And so, I think in some ways we’re—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sorry to interrupt you, but this year may be a difficult year to answer that question; but you’re absolutely right.


DR. PRENDERGAST:  But it has to be answered, and the fact is, there is no better place to have it answered if that’s the debate that has to take place.  It’s real, and we, as local health officers, realize that; and, of course, you realize it as well.


I just want to point out that there’s more than one way to determine vaccine burden – the impact on the causation of specific diseases.  Long-term follow-up studies are extremely expensive.  They have not been the routine way that people have approached the issue of trying to determine what vaccine injuries and vaccine complications might be.  The most effective way is to look at cases of things that are suspected to be vaccine related and to do case control studies to see what the difference is between those who have been affected and those who have not been with the disease – the causation of which you’re concerned about.


We in California and elsewhere continue to use efforts to identify vaccine-related problems – like intus-susception with the rotavirus vaccine – as a way to identify the need to reconsider and restudy and relook at the recommendations that are made for new vaccines.


I think we are continually concerned about that.  We are professionally, I think, directed to do that sort of thing because of the public health implications; and frankly, we look forward to continuing to work with the Legislature and the Department and the administration in the creation of appropriate vaccine policy for California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do appreciate the brevity of your presentation.  I certainly have questions about the issues you raise that put the challenge on us, the policymakers, but I’ll raise those in the second part.


Welcome, Dr. Samuelson.


DR. PATRICIA SAMUELSON:  Thank you, Senator.  I’ll try to live up to your brevity.


I’m appearing before you both as a family physician representing 7,000 members of the California Academy of Family Physicians, who treats largely ethnic minority populations – who, I am sure, everyone here knows bear a disproportionate burden of immortality and morbidity of vaccine-preventable and nonvaccine-preventable illness, of course – and also as the mother of a fully immunized two-year-old who gets some care in a group care setting.  He’s an only child.  We thought he needed some normal experiences, some shoving, some negotiating, fighting over toys, some putting other people’s germy toys in his mouth; and we feel overall it’s been a very healthful experience for him.  So far the many, many foreign antigens that he encounters each and every day on the playground don’t seemed to have harmed him.


The thing that concerns me most when I look at vaccine mandates is not whether or not you mandate that I vaccinate my child.  I was never mandated to vaccinate my child.  I chose to vaccinate my child.  The question is:  Could I expose other children to him before I was mandated?  


I look at this very much along the lines as the fact that I have a TB test every single year and all of the day-care providers have a TB test, and if we had active TB, you can bet we wouldn’t be near anybody until we were being treated for that TB.  Not that we have to be treated for TB, but we don’t have the right to expose others to it unless we are.


Similarly, I, as a mother with a child in a group care setting, look around and I don’t know if half the kids in that facility were unimmunized, when they could have been, when my child was still too young to be immunized.


Now, you may think, looking at me, I’m awfully old to have a two-year-old, and, by golly, you’re right; although, let me tell you that 42 is really too old to have a newborn.  But, I am way too young to have seen the vaccine-preventable illnesses that I have seen:  children with half their face removed surgically from invasive Haemophilus influenza B; a three-month-old in continuous, nonstop seizures, forced to be paralyzed and put on a breathing machine with pertussis, which he caught from someone else when he was too young to be immunized; a young adult with asthma, immunosuppressed by the steroids he took for that asthma, who died of chickenpox.


On the other hand, I’ve seen the other side.  There was a child in my office, a young baby, there for immunizations.  My nurse comes running down the hall – Doctor, come look at this baby.  This baby has stopped breathing.  This baby stopped breathing and started having seizures, and this was the first sign of cerebral palsy in this normal baby five minutes before those shots were going to be given.  For a parent who has seen something like this, it truly must seem impossible that it could be a coincidence.  I’m sure that had that child just had the shots instead of just had the exam and about to get the shots, I’d think the same.


But as a concerned parent, I have looked at the data on vaccines, on their effectiveness in preventing the illnesses that still kill our children, that still disproportionately kill American Indian and other ethnic minority children, that lead to their death from hepatoma in adulthood, which I have also seen and never should have seen such a thing in my career.  Measles could have been wiped off the planet Earth thirty years ago if we had the will.  


But I digress.  


That I should have looked for the safety information before immunizing my own child I think would be obvious.  It’s there.  They are studied.  They’re studied on a large scale.  If anything, I’d say that the FDA is way too cautious in approving new vaccines, and it limits access for children like mine.


I don’t say that people have to immunize their child.  I just have concerns about them not immunizing them and then exposing mine.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for staying under, I think, the five minutes, and I appreciate that.


We have three more speakers, I believe.  The next speaker is Alan Shaw.  


Welcome, Dr. Shaw.


DR. ALAN SHAW:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members of the committee.


My purpose here is to give you--rather than information about public health measures and public policy measures--is to give you a glimpse of what goes on behind the scenes as vaccines are developed.


I’m the executive director of Virus and Cell Biology at Merck Research Laboratories in West Point, Pennsylvania.  In my capacity, I’m responsible for early research and early development of vaccines as well as process upgrades and improvements to manufacturing products.  So, I see sort of the breadth of the system from inside the company.


My comments today will be not Merck-specific but more general to the vaccine industry as a whole.


We have an explosion in available technologies right now, and these technologies have obvious applications in vaccine design.  You read about this in Scientific American and everyplace else.  However, these same technologies are applied in vaccine safety, and we don’t hear too much about this because it’s not sexy, it’s not interesting – it’s mostly good news because things normally don’t happen – and it doesn’t make the headlines of the newspapers.  But, we do put a lot of time and effort into safety studies and technology that goes into these safety studies.


In sum, we have two major goals in vaccine development, and they’re of equal importance.  First of all, we want to make something that works, that protects children or adults from the disease in question, and we also want to make something that’s safe.  Safety is a primary concern for the multiple reasons that we’ve heard about here.  But also, from the inside of the company that produces these products, we put a lot of our time and effort into these things.  We work on these things 24 hours a day.  These are our babies, and we certainly don’t want to send these things out in the world if they’re going to hurt somebody.  We take this as a very personal responsibility.


As we go through our thinking when we’re designing a vaccine, we think about what kind of a target antigen for this particular bug we’re talking about are we going to pick to make a vaccine out of, and we ask ourselves:  Is this likely to cause a problem?  There are many instances that I could chew up your afternoon with, where you could pick certain aspects of a virus or a bacterium to make a vaccine out of, but there are logical reasons to think that that might not be such a good idea from a safety point of view.  This kind of thinking goes on before we ever really get started.


The same kind of philosophy applies to the choice of delivery route, whether it’s injected, inhaled, swallowed, or so on and so forth:  Which way is likely to be safest?  The same choices go on when we talk about how we actually produce the material in question to make a vaccine:  Is this the safest way to make it?  And finally, when we come to the manufacturing process, we consider all sorts of things about what can we do to make the materials and the raw ingredients that go into this vaccine as safe as possible?  


I’ll give you one “for instance.”  We’re in the midst of a project right now to replace human serum albumin, which is a minor component of the cell culture system for some of our viral vaccines, with a recombinant albumin made in yeast because of the concerns about human albumin and blood supply, and you read about this all the time. 


This is enormously expensive.  We’re not being told by anybody to do this, but we think it’s the right thing to do.  It’s going to cost us hundreds of millions of dollars to do this, but we think it’s going to be safer.  But, we’ve got to prove that too.


Once a vaccine’s licensed, we’re not finished.  We spend a lot of time and effort on post-marketing surveillance.  It has its flaws:  it’s passive; you don’t catch all the cases, as Ms. Loe Fisher says; and there’s not really a good way to improve that.  As we’ve also heard, there are better ways of doing these kinds of studies, using large data links of the health maintenance organizations.  This is a very effective way to do this, and these methods are being used now judiciously.


We also spend a fair amount of time on process improvements.  The albumin thing is just one.  Technology marches onward.  Better ways of doing things come up.  We try to apply these in the best way we can.  However, we do this carefully because, once you have a product, a vaccine, out in the market, you have to ask yourself:  Do I want to change this?  I know it works; I know it’s safe.  So, you do this very cautiously.


Finally, we see ourselves as the caretakers of these products.  We spend probably about 25 percent of our laboratory time on things that are already licensed; things that are out there in the field; things that we keep an eye on.  It’s an integrated effort of laboratory people, clinical studies, and statistics.  A lot of statistics goes into this because we’re talking about large populations.  There’s a fair amount of legwork that goes into it too.


What I’ve been telling you about isn’t terribly exciting.  It’s not going to make the newspapers, unless somebody’s here today.  But, it is important because these are very personal products – we give them to our own children – and we take this seriously.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for staying within the time commitments.  I’m sure that there are going to be questions for you.


We have two more speakers.  Our second to the last speaker is Ms. Colleen Smethers.  Welcome.


MS. COLLEEN SMETHERS:  My name is Colleen Smethers, and I’m from Southern California.  Thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak on this important subject.


The majority of children living in this country have the best health care in the world and are the most vaccinated.  American kids are generally well-nourished, and sanitation is not the health issue that it is in other countries.  


Given these advantages, it would be reasonable to expect that our children would be healthy.  Instead, we are experiencing an epidemic of autism, asthma, allergies, and childhood diabetes.  The number of children with cancer and other chronic autoimmune diseases is increasing at an alarming rate.  


I’m not saying here that vaccines aren’t taking care of what they’re designed to do.  I’m saying that we’re seeing an awful lot of health issues that there’s no explanation for, and is there a connection?


According to the CDC’s own records, 31 percent of children in America have chronic health problems.  That is almost one third.  Eighteen percent of those require special health care and related services; 6.7 percent have significant disability due to chronic and physical conditions.  There has been a 200 percent increase in the incidence of asthma in the last twenty years, with a 46 percent increase in asthma deaths from 1977 to 1991.


Now, you want to talk about costs – these are staggering costs when you look at the overall amount of money it takes to take care of these children.


If you look at today’s childhood vaccination schedule – and you have one as an attachment on your paper packet – you will see that, including hepatitis A and Prevnar, children will be getting 39 doses of 12 different vaccines by the time they start school.  If you consider the number of different strains that are covered by some of these vaccines, the numbers reach 51 different vaccines by six months old and 70 vaccines by the start of school.  As many as 9 or more vaccines are being given at the same time, even if the child is suffering from another illness.


Currently, there are 200 new vaccines in the pipeline and 20 or 30 destined for the childhood vaccine schedule by the year 2010; all of this with no long-term – I know there are studies, I know there are safety studies.  I’m talking about long-term safety studies on any vaccine, showing that the combined use or cumulative effects of the other ingredients is not harmful.  The Dan Burton congressional hearings made it very clear that the pharmaceutical industry has a very tight grip on the profitable vaccine market. 


Hepatitis B, with its mercury preservatives, has no long-term safety testing for children under the age of six – no safety testing at all for children under the age of 

six – and, yet, has been used for years to mass-vaccinate newborns.  It is known that the blood-brain barrier is not formed in newborns and mercury has a propensity for brain tissue where it can stay for years.  


The highest concentration of vaccines are given between four and six months of age, at the same time the newborn’s immune system is developing and learning to cope with a new world of organisms.  It is also the time of the highest incidence of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (or SIDS).  There is more than a little evidence of a causative connection that has been in question for years.  Where is the science showing us that the cumulative effect of vaccines is not a factor in SIDS?


It took congressional hearings to convince the drug companies to remove mercury.  It must be replaced with something, so increased doses of aluminum are being used, and it’s just as toxic to the developing brain and immune system as mercury.  Where are the clinical safety trials for the new formulas?


Existing supplies of the old mercury-laced vaccines are still being used, and parents are not aware of their risks or their options.  What parents are told about vaccines is practically nothing unless they know enough to ask.  No information is given about other ingredients in vaccines, the lack of long-term safety testing, or possible long-term effects.  Certainly, parents are not given a package insert to read, and they are not informed how to identify serious side effects or where to get help once the free clinic is closed and gone.


Southern California has a large population of immigrants and low-income families with no access to health care.  They want their children to have a chance to be educated.  They are told if their children are not vaccinated they can’t go to school.  Their kids are lined up in free clinics where there is no screening for previous reactions or risk factors.  The only questions asked are about allergies to milk and horse serum.  Then, as many as nine vaccines or more are given and the kids go home with families who likely do not even understand what the consequences might be or how to identify a serious reaction should one occur.  


Many doctors have lost their licenses for failing to comply with informed consent regulations that are fiercely adhered to in almost all areas of medicine today; yet, it is conspicuously absent in the vaccine arena.  Only limited and carefully selected information is made available to the general public, with no consequences to the medical community or the pharmaceutical industry for withholding information. 


Hepatitis A is just another version of the same-old-vaccine story, and I will ask the same question:  Where is the long-term safety testing to show that the formaldehyde, a known carcinogen that has no safe level in hepatitis A and other vaccines, does not contribute to the rising incidence of childhood cancer?


In closing, I hoped to make three points by being here today:  

· Despite living in a country that has the best medical care in the world, American children’s health, in general, is deteriorating at an alarming rate.  

· Parents are not being afforded the same informed consent that is expected in other areas of medicine.  And, 

· The vaccine industry is out of control, pushing so many untested vaccines on a population that has trusted their doctors, schools, and government to care about their children’s welfare as much as they do.


We really need and appreciate your attention in this very important health issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony and working through it very quickly.


Our final speaker is Dr. Natalie Smith.  


I’m going to take a bit of privilege as chair of the committee and let you know that if there’s – obviously, move through your testimony as you’ve prepared it – but if there could be a very clear statement on the role of the Immunization Branch, it would also be helpful because that kind of is what we struggled with in the last hearing of the bills before us.  That might structure our debate and questions in the next part of the hearing.


Welcome and thank you, and I look forward to your testimony.


DR. NATALIE SMITH:  Thank you.


Good afternoon, Madam Chair, committee members, and Assemblyman Vargas.  Thank you for inviting me to speak about childhood immunizations and requirements for entry to public and private schools and child day care in California.


My name is Natalie Smith, and I am chief of the Immunization Branch at the California Department of Health Services.  I also am currently serving as a member of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, known as ACIP, a scientific committee that advises the federal government on childhood and adult immunizations.  I understand the committee is interested in discussion of a broad array of issues, but with five minutes for this presentation, I will briefly discuss only some of these.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ll have a chance to answer questions we give you in the next part.


DR. SMITH:  Thank you.


Every year in January, the ACIP – the American Academy of Pediatrics – and the American Academy of Family Physicians jointly publish a “Recommended Childhood Immunization Schedule” for the United States.  The schedule details recommended vaccines and the ages at which they should be given to children.


If the need arises, for example, as the result of FDA licensure of a new vaccine, additional national recommendations may be published throughout the year by any or all three groups.  In arriving at their recommendations, these national committees consider many aspects of diseases, such as severity, frequency of occurrence, age groups most commonly affected, as well as many aspects of available vaccines, such as effectiveness and safety.


In contrast to these immunization recommendations made at the national level, immunization requirements for school and child care facility entry are made at the state level.  All fifty states require immunizations for school and/or child care facility entry, though there are differences in what different states require.  Most states require most of the standard vaccines recommended by these national groups for at least some of the age groups of children entering school or child care facilities.


According to California law, the intent of the Legislature in enacting school and child care facility immunization requirements in this state is to provide “a means for the eventual achievement of total immunization of appropriate age groups” against specified childhood diseases.  Over the past forty years, requirements for new vaccines, as well as determinations of what age groups or grade levels are subject to the requirement for new vaccines, have been made through the legislative process.  The polio requirement took effect in 1962, measles in 1968, diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis in 1972, the mumps and rubella requirement in 1980, the Haemophilus B meningitis requirement in 1993, hepatitis B in 1997, and, most recently, the varicella (or chickenpox) requirement in 2001.  These are all the vaccinations that are required in California.


According to the Health and Safety Code, the Department of Health Services then “shall adopt and enforce all regulations necessary” to carry out the statute.  Generally, these regulations deal with the specifics of implementation of these statutorily established requirements; for example, the number of doses that are needed, how soon children who are partially vaccinated and are admitted conditionally to schools must receive the remaining doses, forms the schools must use, etc.  The Department’s Immunization Branch, of which I am chief, has primary responsibility for drafting these regulations and seeking to have them adopted.


In answer to your previous question, the Immunization Branch, apart from dealing with regulations, is also a large provider of vaccines.  We operate the Vaccines for Children program, and we are involved in a number of technical guidelines for immunizations, as well as outbreak control and surveillance.


According to the current statute, the Department may also specify additional diseases for which immunizations are required, without going through the legislative process; that is, presumably be regulation.  To date, the Department has not exercised that option.


Several factors have traditionally been considered when decisions are made about whether to require immunizations for school and child-care facility entry.  Important factors include effectiveness and safety of the vaccine, burden of disease, including illness and death and number of cases, and the potential for contagion both within the educational facility and to the surrounding community.  Other factors include availability of the vaccine as well as financial considerations, such as cost-effectiveness.


A recent national review of published data on school immunization laws in states across the country showed that enactment of these laws increased immunization rates in the affected age groups of children by a mean of 15 percentage points, with a range of 5 to 35 percent or higher, depending on the vaccine and age of the children impacted.  In San Diego County a few years ago, prior to the enactment of the hepatitis B immunization requirement for seventh graders, only 16 percent were vaccinated.  Within a year after implementation of this new requirement, approximately 90 percent had been vaccinated against hepatitis B.


Now I will touch just very briefly on some of the other issues in which the committee expressed interest.


Exemptions to these requirements:  According to California law, exemptions from immunization for medical reasons or because of personal beliefs are allowed.  Parents or guardians may choose to have their children exempted by signing an affidavit stating that all or some of the immunizations are contrary to their beliefs.  The local health officer, however, may temporarily exclude the exempted child from the educational institution in the event of an outbreak there of a disease for which the child remains unvaccinated.  The affidavits are kept on file at the school or child-care facility.  In 2000, just under one percent of California-entering kindergartners had personal beliefs exemptions.


Regarding national vaccine shortages, among the eight vaccines or vaccine combinations that these national advisory committees have recommended, there are three manufacturers currently making one, two manufacturers making three of the vaccines, and for the other four vaccines, each of those just has a sole manufacturer.  None of these manufacturers are based in California.  It appears that temporary national shortages of some of these vaccines have become more common in the past two to three years; though, to date, none of these shortages has become severe enough to significantly impact implementation of California school and child-care facility entry immunization requirements.  At the national level, two bodies – the Department of Health and Human Services’ National Vaccine Advisory Committee and the Congressional General Accounting Office (GAO) – have recently launched investigations into the causes of these shortages and possible remedies.


Regarding meningococcal disease and implementation of Senate Bill 212:  This bill, which was enacted last year, requires the Department, in consultation with a number of other specified individuals and agencies, to develop a strategic plan for the prevention of meningococcal disease, submitting this plan to the Legislature by or before June 30th of this year.  The role of the currently available vaccine for meningococcal disease will obviously be considered in development of the plan.  Thus far, the Department has assembled the membership of the group to develop this plan and prepare background information for these members.  The group will hold its first meeting next week.


In conclusion, thank you for the opportunity to testify today and for your continued interest in protecting the children of California against vaccine-preventable diseases.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


I want to thank all the witnesses.  I really appreciate your formal testimony.  


I want to point our attention, Members, as well as the public, to some of the questions that are outlined on the agenda.  Again, these questions are simply to serve as a guideline and hopefully refocus the issues that were raised in the hearings on the specific pieces of legislation.  I’m certain that, like myself, many of you have probably gathered new questions that you want to raise.  If these questions weren’t addressed in the testimony, I encourage Members to raise them now and any other questions.


Panelists, we may want to direct a question to one or more of you.  If any others of you would like to respond to a question directed at one of the speakers, feel free to indicate that by raising your hand or otherwise.  And let’s agree to disagree because I think this is not an easy topic.  We struggled with it as a committee, and that’s why we’re calling all the experts before us to give us some guidance on this issue.


With that, I have a number of questions, but I want to allow my colleagues who want to weigh in at this point the opportunity – and if we could at least try to be structured and guided by the recommendations in the agenda under topic three, the “General Vaccine Policymaking” questions and go from there.


Questions from members of the committee?  Mr. Vargas, I know you probably have a series of questions, and I want to have you feel free to weigh in.


All right.  Well, I have a lot of questions.


Let me just make some preliminary comments.  What I struggled with in most of this discussion was around the hepatitis A mandated school-age vaccination.  What I struggled with is the understanding and representations that, one, California had seen an increase and, two, that although those rates had come below what was recommended by CDC, the explanation for that was that the disease is cyclical.  Therefore, by simply looking at those numbers being under what CDC recommends in their guidelines – and I don’t know that CDC has come out directly and suggested that states adopt a mandated school-age vaccination – it comes a little bit short.  It was a reasonable explanation that because the disease is cyclical that we should not feel comforted by the decreases.


The other piece of information that I think is important to focus our committee discussion and questions is that although children are the ones who should be vaccinated – and, in fact, if they contract hepatitis A – and it can’t be treated because it’s viral – that the health outcome of that child may not be as serious.  Although it’s not an insignificant problem in a child with the disease, the real risk is those children are carriers, and they’re carriers to an adult population that gets very, very sick when they contract hepatitis A, and it’s life-threatening if you’re in an adult category of hepatitis B or hepatitis C.  Everyone else in the population that is not in either of those two categories probably could survive, but then we have this herd effect that creates a greater risk to the health overall.  Is that a fair statement?


The dilemma I have had is understanding the rates of decline coupled with representations.  I think it was Dr. Rosenthal’s testimony where there was a question with HIV and whether those are adults with HIV who are also in that hepatitis B/hepatitis C category of risk.  If we have a small universe of persons who could die from getting hepatitis A from a child carrier, why can’t we allow health officers to declare outbreaks with their emergency powers that they currently have in place to say, in this county, whether it’s Butte or Stanislaus – which, by the way, is kind of a disconnect with some of the at-risk populations, I think, other than hepatitis C possibly infected adults – why can’t we allow them to exercise the emergency powers to ask for hepatitis A vaccination of children in that county rather than do a state-mandated one?


Number two, the presentation by Dr. Gitnick, as I understood it, unless there’s a twenty-year ongoing commitment to do hepatitis A vaccinations, it’s really going to take that long of a commitment to really deal with a California-wide or a system-wide benefit.  If we, every year, decide whether or not this is a mandated vaccine through something short of a mandated legislation, then we would fall short of what our end objective is, which is to deal with the risk of hepatitis A to people with hepatitis B or hepatitis C or HIV.  


That twenty-year minimum – is that a correct statement?


DR. GITNICK:  Senator, it would take twelve years for the state to get paid back $2.09 for every dollar it invested.  That’s for the state.  For the people of the state during that period of time, thousands would suffer.  If we’re just talking dollars and not lives and not worsening of chronic disease, it’s true.  It would take twelve years before the state would realize a return on its investment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why don’t we just ask that there be standards and practices in the medical community that identifies a child who may be in the category of children who are likely to be carriers to someone else in a household to selectively say to parents, “We recommend hepatitis A vaccinations” – which you probably do anyway, even though it’s not mandated – and to deal with it on a case-by-case standards and practices in the medical community rather than a mandate?


Another part of the discussion that other Members may want to weigh in – and I’m becoming more and more impressed with the medical data on hepatitis A; not necessarily the children – let’s be very clear – but the adults who have either hepatitis B or hepatitis C or HIV, this is deadly for them.  I’m not unaware nor am I unsympathetic to who our growing hepatitis C population is, particularly in California.  I know the face of that.  And that’s a huge health problem that’s beyond anything we’ve tackled with hepatitis C.  Why not do it on a case-by-case basis?  Why not do it on a standards and practices in the medical community?


Because I’ll tell you right now, to mandate that in California, how do we deal with the cost, even though it’s a good investment in a cost-benefit analysis?  What is the potential cost to California to mandate it every year for every school-age child?  That’s two shots before they enter kindergarten.  And what about the at-risk populations, whether they’re new immigrants from Latin America, whether they’re new Asian immigrants, whether there are older siblings who have come in later, who don’t have access to health care?  Can we provide that?  


Anyone?  And, hopefully, other members of the panel have structured their questions so I don’t occupy all this time.


DR. GITNICK:  Senator, I will start.  We are not as good as you would like us to be, I guess is the honest answer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re pretty darn good.


DR. GITNICK:  We’re not that good.  We cannot predict which child, which family, or which group of families are going to become infected or are going to be sources of transmission to adults.  Once they become infected, it is too late.  Once they become infected and they’re carrying the virus, the vaccine will not prevent disease in the infected person, nor will it prevent transmission to unknown numbers of adults.  And finally, viruses, regrettably, do not abide by county lines.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you.


DR. PRENDERGAST:  Maybe I could just address the issue of what the local health officer can do.  I think, actually, over the last several years a number of different counties have faced the issue of hyperendemic or epidemics of hepatitis A.  Actually, a couple of these instances occurred before the hepatitis A vaccine was available as part of the response, and that made it complicated.  There were efforts to use it in an experimental way, which I think is what happened in Butte County.  


I think the local health officer basically is charged by statute with the responsibility to do what’s necessary to stop the spread of communicable disease.  So having knowledge that there was an excess risk – if we all agreed on that and it was very clear that that was going on – I believe a local health officer could, and probably will sometime in the next few years, have an opportunity to exercise the option to say, “For this county, for this period of time, for this population of targeted individuals, the vaccine is required.”  It will still be required only in the same sense that it is in the legislative action:  that there’s still partial exemption and there’s still religious exemption – there’s still the opportunity not to take the vaccine.  In the absence of a statewide mandate, and in the absence of a school mandate, the ability to achieve really high immunization levels is severely compromised.  But it certainly can be done.


Just to clarify further, the problem with hepatitis A spreading from children, the period of time during which they actually spread the disease is fairly limited.  They don’t become carriers in the sense that people with hepatitis B do, but they do have the disease without any symptoms for a period of a few weeks; during which time, by fecal or oral transmission, people who are changing their diapers, people who are taking care of them, people in day care, frequently are exposed and frequently do come down with symptomatic disease, even though the child is never identified or identifiable as having had hepatitis A during that period of time.  


So, they’re very important in the transmission of hepatitis A in the community and almost invisible when you try to determine who needs treatment and when or who needs to be separated from others and when.  That approach – that is, the individual approach – is very difficult to take.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Prendergast, does your association have a position on mandated vaccination for hepatitis A?


DR. PRENDERGAST:  I chair the Disease Control Committee, where we took up this discussion when the bill came before us before.  We actually did not recommend doing it at the time.  I can tell you it was a struggle internally, and it’s a struggle for me personally to articulate.  


It appeared at the time that the rate was going to come down with voluntary use and that the cost benefit of the remaining immunizations might not be as great as the initial benefit of getting the first 40 or 50 percent immunized, particularly if we can get the right people immunized.


In any event, the _______ position, recommended by the committee and approved by the board, was not to support mandatory vaccine of hepatitis A at that time.  If we did it again, I’m not at all sure the discussion would come to the exact same conclusion.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s a close call, from your association’s perspective.


DR. PRENDERGAST:  I believe that’s an accurate thing to say.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what we struggle with.


I know Assemblymember Vargas has some questions, but Dr. Samuelson, did you want to weigh in on this?  And others?


DR. SAMUELSON:  I just want to comment that targeted immunization has been a really big problem.  That’s why we gave it up with hepatitis B, because the majority of adolescents, for example, have become – I mean, the most common source of chronic infection is unknown.  We don’t know where they got it.  


I recall, when I was at the Medical Center as a resident, we had this huge outbreak of hepatitis A.  It devastated a newborn nursery, infecting hospital staff all over the place.  Naturally, being a hospital, we’re looking all over the hospital.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’d think that they would be immunized.


DR. SAMUELSON:  There was no vaccine at the time.  I’m not a young woman.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, don’t say that because I know you’re the same age I am.


DR. SAMUELSON:  Yes, well.  [Laughter]  The outbreak was traced to donuts from the bakery sold in the cafeteria, eaten by a nurse in the newborn nursery.  The virus moves through her chapped, many-times-a-day washed hands to a newborn, the diaper is changed by another nurse with chapped hands, and this sweeps through the nursery.  I end up delivering an extremely distressed infant to an infected mother.  I am a contaminated source at this point and don’t know it for several days.  That’s the problem with targeted immunization.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have any of you, on this panel, had your hepatitis A vaccinations?  [Laughter]  


Yes, I understand that they’re making us.


Assemblymember Vargas.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER VARGAS:  Thank you very much.


First of all, I’d like to thank you, Senator, for bringing everyone here.  I think this was terrific testimony and very compelling on both sides, particularly Dr. Patricia Samuelson – the story you gave.  


I sort of got involved in this process in a similar situation.  We had a family that we decided to sponsor from Kosovo.  My wife and I decided that, with the ethnic cleansing that was going on in Kosovo, that we, as Americans, were not going to turn a blind eye, as did others previously, and we were going to bring this family into our home, which we did.  We learned that the family was going to be a husband, a wife, and two daughters.  The daughters were young:  six and eight.  Of course, we were concerned for our daughter who, at that time, was three.  We went to our pediatrician and asked how could we protect her, and she said, well, you’ve done all the things that you need, but honestly, it’s more you and your wife that are susceptible to some of the diseases that this family may bring into your home.  


We made the decision that we were going to accept this family anyway.  Since they were Muslim, we didn’t know what their personal beliefs were, whether they would get immunized or not, but we figured that that was a risk we were willing to take, and we did.  The family came into our home and lived with us for almost two years, but since they went to the local school, Sherman Elementary, they did get, in fact, vaccinated for most of these issues, and it sort of created an interest in me.  


Listening to what you were saying today, I find it very, very compelling, but it always comes back to the same issue, I think, that the Senator said it sort of offhandedly here, but it’s the truth:  It’s the money issue – whether the cost and the benefit is going to be something.  


I recall the first time I read the Pinto stories, where Ford was sitting back and taking a look and saying – I’m a car guy so I love cars and I love reading about them – but Ford would make the decision that it’s cheaper not to replace the gas tanks and, in fact, allow the gas tanks to blow up and to burn to death a certain number of passengers than, in fact, replacing the gas tanks.  That was the decision that was made.  I think Ralph Nader and others exposed that decision, and that cost-benefit analysis became a very dirty analysis for a while.  The truth of the matter is we use it all the time and business uses it all the time.  I fall more on the side of Ralph Nader, I think, on these issues, saying, “Why not spend the money?”  I think we should.  


In listening here today, I was hoping to hear more on the evidence of autism and all because, frankly, that was more the issue that moved me.  I didn’t hear, really, any determinative evidence, and if someone could provide that here from the medical community that, in fact, the cumulative effect of so many vaccines causes autism or the other problems that our children seem to be having, that was more the question that I was looking for.  


I guess on the other side, ideologically I fall more on the side of spending the money.  If you have to raise taxes or do whatever on the rich, I’m very much in favor of that, believe me – whatever you have to do to immunize these children.  But the other one was a real concern, the issue of autism and these other issues about mercury and aluminum.  


In San Diego, I was a city councilman for eight years and we had not fluoridated our water.  The issue came up about fluoridation, and the issue was one, also, of cost benefit, but also the issue of:  Is it a poison?  Is it problematic?  I listened to both sides and certainly came down on the side that I think fluoridation was a good thing.  We still don’t have it.  I guess I couldn’t find the science there which would tell me that it was a good decision not to do it.  In fact, the scientists said “yes” and some community folks said “no.”  That issue, I guess I go more with the community.  


I know the statement was made here you have to listen to the community.  Well, on issues of health – my daughter’s health in particular or the other children in California – I listen more to the experts there.  The issues of where to put houses and protect species and wetlands, I listen more to the community.  But when it comes to issues of health and science, I have to go with the scientific approach.


I guess, Senator, the only thing I would ask, and I think you pinpointed the person I was going to ask, and ask my question to him.  You did the cost-benefit analysis, I recall, Dr. Prendergast, and I think you already explained it:  that in that cost-benefit analysis, you thought it probably was not a time to mandate it.  I think the testimony I heard from others – and I certainly didn’t invite you but someone else did – but it seemed like the testimony which I heard was that you probably would mandate it.  Correct me if I’m wrong.


DR. GITNICK:  Assemblymember, the Medical Board of California voted unanimously to support the bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just weigh in on the cost-benefit analysis, and I think it’s important.  Really, I think the Pinto analogy is a little bit different than the way I view it.  It’s a question of whether we mandate hepatitis A for every child in California before they enter kindergarten versus financing clinics and trauma care.  Unfortunately, the cost-benefit analysis is about the level of healthcare funding across that system of very critical programs.  That’s a dilemma, and, of course, that’s a discussion more appropriately raised in a fiscal committee, but it is one we are grappling with in our policy committees this year and probably for the next few years.  


So, it’s not a question about whether or not enough adults die because they get hepatitis A from a child and at what point does that become too expensive.  It’s a question of what other critical safety-net healthcare access and public health obligations and responsibilities do we have?  And that’s the thing.  There’s no good answer on this.


Some of the case that’s been made for hepatitis A is pretty compelling, particularly when you look at trends for adults with hepatitis C in California:  who hepatitis C persons are who are not necessarily high on the list of liver transplants, for example, and/or interferon treatment, etc.  But the other piece of it is could we better spend scarce dollars on other aspects of hepatitis C treatment prevention education – substance abuse, culturally appropriate programs that are actually managing hepatitis C – if that can all be imagined.  There are other ways to deal with the hepatitis C risk, and that’s part of the cost-benefit analysis as well.  


Let me now, having talked too much, look at Senator Kuehl who’s got some questions.  


I don’t underestimate those persons who have concerns about mandated immunizations, but I do want to draw Members’ attention to the third part of the vaccine safety question, because I think those are some questions we certainly should raise of everybody on the panel to get to the question of the mandated vaccinations.  We have an opportunity to do that and we should do that.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I guess one of the things I would like to try to help us consider is how we balance the issue of potential realistic risk against our concern, as Dr. Samuelson indicated, that we’re not just talking about an individual child, for instance, if we’re talking about entry-to-school requirements, but all the other children as well as adults.  Let’s just say in that arena.


I see a number of reports of studies that have been released August of 2000 and spring of 2001, I think, indicating vaccines are just fine.  These studies show that even in a cocktail, these vaccines are fine, etc.  


My first question is:  Is there a credible study or two indicating negative outcome for children or adults who have certain risk factors or physiological markers or something, such that we know that there’s more of a danger to this kid than to that kid, based on physiological stuff?


Please.


DR. SHAW:  I’ll take a crack at the first part of that answer, and that is that both the government and the vaccine companies do conduct post-marketing surveillance through the various databases.  We all have our own databases as well where we accept reports of various kinds of events that happen after vaccination.


If you look at the most severe reactions that you see in these cases, by and large, if you track down the facts as best you can, you find that the subject of the reaction is generally somebody who shouldn’t have been vaccinated in the first place, based on the language that’s in the label for the vaccine.  Typically, and what comes to mind most, is the experience we’ve had with the chickenpox vaccine, where the most severe cases of interest have been children that have been, unbeknownst to anybody, HIV-positive or had some other underlying severe immunodeficiency that, had it been known, would have excluded them from being vaccinated.


So, that’s one of the interesting applications of these kinds of post-marketing surveillance studies is to try and identify infants or individuals that have these characteristics that you’d say, okay, you don’t want to vaccinate this person because it might cause trouble.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Again, this is sort of a fantasy world, where one would begin to explore what might be the perfect answer and see, as we sometimes try to do, how close can you get in a given situation – science, budget, etc.  I’m assuming it would be very difficult to test children before immunization.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But the ethical dilemma we face is all of these studies have been done not on children, because it’s unethical to undergo these pre-FDA approval—


DR. SHAW:  Actually, no.  Most of the vaccines are tested in the population for their intended use.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, children are the subject of the pre—


DR. SHAW:  Prelicensure studies, absolutely.


DR. SMITH:  For instance, the pneumococcal trial studied about 37,000 children.


DR. SHAW:  The way the early studies are done is, when you’re starting from scratch, when you’re just setting out on a development program, you start with healthy immune adults to see if there’s some gross safety problem.  As you satisfy yourself and gain some comfort there, then you move downwards in the age group until you finally arrive at the intended target population, where you expand your studies carefully and follow the data.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, to return to my question – and again, this is completely beyond anything anyone would do.  You’re not going to give every child in the state an HIV test before you give them an immunization – or are you?  


The question really is:  If there are certain, very specific risk factors and we’ve got it on the label – like on the pack of cigarettes that people buy:  Warning:  Don’t do this – is there some way to pretest for a susceptibility or vulnerability to a particular immunization?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  After either of the two doctors respond, I do know Ms. Loe Fisher wants to respond.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I can see, and I’m willing to listen to all the answers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s hear from the medical community and then we’ll hear from Ms. Loe Fisher, because I was going to encourage her to weigh in in this part of the discussion as well.  Unless, Ms. Loe Fisher, you would like to go first.  


Why don’t you go ahead and take the liberty.


MS. LOE FISHER:  One of the big problems is that there has not been adequate investigation into genetic and other factors that put children at high risk.  We know, for example, that DPT vaccine, children who have a personal history of convulsions have a nine times greater risk of reacting to DPT vaccine.  Those who come from families that have convulsions have a three times greater risk.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Excuse me.  Can I ask a question?  When you use numbers like that, or when anyone does, that sounds to me like the result of a study.


MS. LOE FISHER:  The CDC published something in 1987 when they reevaluated their reports of seizures after DPT vaccine and came to the conclusion that that was a high-risk factor, which suggests genetic predisposition.  


I just would really like to read something.  The Institute of Medicine, when they put out very historic reports in ’91 and ’94, concluded that “The lack of adequate data regarding many of the vaccine-adverse events under study was of major concern to the committees who studied it.  The committee encountered many gaps and limitations and knowledge bearing directly or indirectly on the safety of vaccines.  These include inadequate understanding of the biologic mechanisms underlying adverse events following natural infection or immunization, insufficient or inconsistent information from case reports and case series, and inadequate size or length of follow-up of many population-based epidemiological studies.”


SENATOR KUEHL:  What year?  I’m sorry.


MS. LOE FISHER:  This was 1991 and 1994.  I think this was the 1994 report.


There has been no funding of the kinds of studies that we need to do to really identify genetic and other biological factors that put children at high risk for having reactions.


Regarding the hepatitis A vaccine, it’s my understanding – I think there were about 31,000 individuals in the Smith-Kline-Beacham study, but there weren’t a whole lot of children that were looked at.  Maybe Merck knows how many children were involved.  I know you have a hepatitis A vaccine also.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me find out and we’ll go through the chair to see who is appropriate to answer.  Do you want to finish and provide more testimony?


MS. LOE FISHER:  Well, since you’ve been talking about hepatitis A – and I wish Assemblyman Vargas was here because I know he’s trying to do a good thing – the experts at World Health Organization, the vaccine manufacturers, and the CDC say that hepatitis A does not cause chronic disease; there is no carrier state; it very rarely causes death.  You get it; you get over it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you’re a child, you get over it.  But if you’re an adult with either hepatitis B or hepatitis C, then that’s the dilemma, and I think we’ve stipulated that.


MS. LOE FISHER:  Right.  About 15 percent of individuals will go on to have this recurring problem, and they’re high-risk individuals.  But, I think it’s also important to remember that permanent immunity is gotten after you get hepatitis A as a child, and all vaccines only give temporary immunity.  The product manufacturer inserts of both Merck and Smith-Kline-Beacham state that the protection – at present, they don’t understand or they do not know how long immunity will last.  In fact, they say, “It is unknown if the protection it provides to immunized children will last until adulthood.”  I think this is another thing you need to look at in the cost-benefit analysis.


Now, it’s my understanding that the cost of hepatitis A vaccine to the CDC, who provides it to poor children, is $11.25 a dose.  To private doctors it’s between 25 and 29 dollars a dose.  To the parent who brings a child in and pays for the vaccine, it’s $50 a dose, plus a $25 administration cost.  So, if you mandate it, you will be putting a burden, of course, on the parents who are going to pay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s interesting, and I’m going to want somebody to respond to the difference between the eleven dollars and something cents versus the fifty-dollar end cost.


Let me just clarify, and I think it’s been made very clear here, I think I want to pursue other ways of addressing people who could die from hepatitis A because they’re adults and they’ve got either hepatitis B or hepatitis C.  I think that’s the issue here.  Or HIV.  I think everybody has agreed that it’s not an easy thing for a child to undergo when they get hepatitis A, but the issue is they are carriers and it has consequences.  And the herd effect, I think, is of concern when you have a population of children who are not immunized and they become a large group of potential carriers.  Again, the consequences are generally to the adult.  I think people have agreed that that is really what they’re trying to achieve is people not dying from hepatitis B and hepatitis C and HIV who then get hepatitis A because of children.


MS. LOE FISHER:  But I think the ethical question here is you put the burden of the risk of a reaction on the children.  I sympathize and understand everybody’s individual life is important and the adults are as important as the children, but I do think you need to take a look at this, particularly when we don’t understand how hepatitis A vaccine is going to interact with the other vaccines that are given to children.  To my knowledge, there has been literally almost no study of hepatitis A vaccine within the context of the other vaccines the children are given.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that’s two points that you’ve said well:  Should children be the remedy and the group to prevent others from getting ill?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Madam Chair, may I return to my questions?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly, and I was going to get back to the questions raised by Ms. Loe Fisher.


SENATOR KUEHL:  With this information, I want to return to the focus of my question because I think it’s all along the same thing – the question of the most recent studies and whether or not they did, indeed, deal with any of those questions in terms of “this in addition to that” kind of thing.  Again, I want to return to the other part of my question, if you would in all the answers, having to do with whether, in my science fiction fantasy world, there’s a way to pretest for vulnerability – if there has been research on a particular vulnerable population based on their physiological, either genetically or other kind of precondition.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ve got Dr. Alan Shaw and Dr. Blumberg.


Why don’t you go first, Dr. Blumberg.


DR. BLUMBERG:  Thank you.


I’d like to address several of the issues, and I’ll group them into two main issues.  One is the hepatitis A issues that we’ve been discussing more in depth, and the other is, Senator Kuehl, your issues regarding are there subpopulations and issues regarding some vaccine reactions?


It’s important to know that when Ms. Loe Fisher refers to adverse events following immunization, that some of those adverse events may not causally be related to the immunization and they may occur after immunization.  As Dr. Samuelson mentioned, some of these adverse events may occur prior to immunization also.  That does not mean they’re caused by immunization.


In terms of the issue regarding convulsions secondary to DPT vaccine, the old DPT vaccine very commonly causes fevers.  The newer acellular product also causes fever but less often, and that’s a known side effect of vaccination.  Fever does lower the seizure threshold, and so a seizure may occur due to a fever for any cause.  There is no scientific evidence that DTaP vaccine causes any brain damage.  You can get a convulsion from having a cold, from having a fever, from the flu, and from having a fever from vaccination.  That’s well known and that can be prevented with antipyretics.


In terms of addressing subpopulations, there are specific subpopulations that should be screened out, as Dr. Shaw mentioned.  Immunocompromised patients – patients with weakened immune systems – in general should not receive live viral vaccines such as MMR or varicella vaccine.  I’m not familiar with the cases that Dr. Shaw cited about a child who was HIV infected, but in general, most of the time, if you see a patient in your practice, you would go through a history before you immunize them:  Do they have frequent, unusual infections?  Are they growing normally?  Those sorts of issues that would tip you off that they’re not immunocompromised.  And then also see if they’re taking any medications that might affect their immune system, such as steroids.


So, there are specific subpopulations such as that that should be screened out from the routine recommendation.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Doctor, the problem that we have, however, is if we’re going to look at a requirement that every child be immunized or they may not go to school and what that immunization or immunizations will be, we’re rarely talking about children who are seen regularly by a physician, in their practice.


DR. BLUMBERG:  Most of the contraindications are pretty obvious.  It takes a simple screening questionnaire.  Maybe Dr. Smith can address these issues, but the Department of Health Services provides simple screening tools to vaccine providers in order to quickly address these issues, even if a patient is being seen for the first time, to try to get at that issue of subpopulations that might be at risk for adverse reactions from the vaccines who shouldn’t be vaccinated.


I’d just like to address a couple more issues, and maybe Dr. Rosenthal and Dr. Gitnick can address the issue about hepatitis A morbidity and mortality.


I think maybe we are underselling a bit that children don’t have any risk for hepatitis A from bad outcomes from that, and Dr. Gitnick can speak to this better than I can.  I’ve seen children die of hepatitis A – fulminant liver failure from hepatitis A.  Children need liver transplants because of hepatitis A.  I don’t think it’s a benign illness in children, although adults are more severely affected.


The problem, as Dr. Samuelson and others have mentioned, is targeted immunization.  It has been extremely difficult to achieve and has always resulted in failure.  Vaccine mandates have been proven a success in terms of achieving these public health goals.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do know that Dr. Smith wants to respond as well.  Dr. Shaw and Dr. Rosenthal, do you want to respond?  Then we’ll come to you, Ms. Smethers.


DR. SMITH:  I just wanted to follow up on what Dr. Blumberg said.  The state has developed screening questionnaires that every immunization provider may use, and every immunization provider should definitely screen every child they’re giving a vaccine to prior to the vaccination, and that’s very clear.


The second thing is they are to give the patient themselves a vaccine information statement that goes through the benefits and the risks of the vaccine, and we do provide that in multiple languages.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just comment.  What I heard Ms. Loe Fisher address was even with the list of known contraindications, and if a provider of the immunization does all of that really well, that still doesn’t account for a unique trend; probably not a small minority but maybe suggests a genetic predisposition of some children outside of these other contraindications or the random one-in-a-million or one-in-five-hundred-thousand unique allergic reaction that is unknown to the parent or to the provider.  There’s little to no data that has risen to the level, I think, of comfort that would guide us to say, “Do we have a system in place to safeguard against that if it, indeed, occurs?”


So, I think for all the things that are known to be contraindications, if you have a great provider that goes through that and there’s no cultural competency issues or language issues, and the parent knows that their child – for example, some parents may not know whether their child has anything underlying – even when you do all that, you still may see some other information that would preclude that child from being recommended, but we just don’t have enough data to support it at this point.  I think that’s maybe what I heard from Ms. Loe Fisher on some of the genetic predisposition that is undiscovered or unsubstantiated and isn’t listed yet.


Okay, Dr. Shaw, Dr. Rosenthal, and then Ms. Smethers, I believe, and then Ms. Loe Fisher.


DR. SHAW:  I’d like to come back to this question of genetic susceptibility because it is a very interesting one.  The possibility that there should be more research funded on these kind of problems, I think that’s probably a good idea too.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And who will do that funding of that research?


DR. SHAW:  Well, that’s a good question.  It’s up for debate.  But the point is, it’s probably not a bad idea.


However, if you get down to questions about genetic susceptibility, you wind up with sort of the 1984, in the literary terms, suggestion that you would do genetic testing on everybody.  You can imagine the debates that we’d get into if we wanted to do that.  You would have to serve dinner for this kind of a debate.  You probably could discover genetic susceptibilities.  Whether you could test for them is another sort of political and ethical debate that I think would take quite some time to sort out.  


The way that you would discover them is by experience.  In a sense, that’s what the post-marketing surveillance does – probably not as effective as you’d like to have it do, but it does do this – is it identifies situations that do arise during vaccination where there may be a clear relationship between an event of vaccination and some problem that happens down the stream, like the HIV-infected children I was just mentioning.  That’s just an obvious case.  But you only discover those by experience.  You can’t go out and look for them prospectively, saying, “I’m going to vaccinate these particular kids because I think they may have a problem.”


It’s a tough call.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate your honesty.


Dr. Rosenthal and then Ms. Loe Fisher and Ms. Smethers.  You can decide who speaks first.


DR. ROSENTHAL:  I just wanted to make sure I go on record as indicating that hepatitis A, even in children, can be a serious disease.  I would definitely agree with what has been discussed, that it does not cause chronicity.  The natural history of hepatitis A is that it’s a different virus than hepatitis B and hepatitis C.  It does not cause a chronic disease, but that doesn’t mean that the acute disease cannot be very severe.  It doesn’t mean that you can’t have relapsing hepatitis A.  In fact, it can last for six months up to a year, so it can be pretty debilitating to the individual who’s susceptible.  We don’t even know all the susceptibility of the individual who gets, say, relapsing hepatitis A from an individual who gets the routine run-of-the-mill hepatitis A versus the individual who gets the full hepatitis A.


Dr. Blumberg is correct – I do have patients that have had liver transplants that are children with hepatitis A.  Is that unusual?  Yes, it is.  But it’s just as unusual as the individuals who get a reaction to the hepatitis A vaccine.


So, if you look at the whole perspective, the virus is a bad disease.  It can definitely affect the older individual more severely, and “older individual,” I hate to say to you, is over 40 years of age.  But I will go on record as mentioning that because there are data to definitely demonstrate that morbidity and mortality is greatly increased in individuals by age, let alone risk factors of hepatitis B or hepatitis C, like Dr. Gitnick mentioned.  So, just a normal individual with age is susceptible if they have not already had hepatitis A.  To get hepatitis A and not get vaccinated does put those young individuals – granted, there may be a few of them at risk for fulminant liver failure, liver transplants, and then the costs greatly outweigh the benefit of that vaccine because they would not, therefore, get a liver transplant.


The kind of work that I do, liver transplants are very, very expensive.  Vaccines are very minimally expensive, and the risk-benefit ratios are much, much greater on the side of vaccines for these potentially bad diseases, so please take that into account in your deliberations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask, the normal 44, soon-to-be 45-year-old adult who doesn’t have hepatitis C or hepatitis B who then contracts hepatitis A, they generally live through—


DR. ROSENTHAL:  They’ll generally get over that, and I think Dr. Gitnick wants to make a comment here.  I see him anxiously jumping here.  From my own experience, a minority will develop fulminant liver failure.  Why they get it and others don’t, we don’t know, and there’s no way of predicting who that will be.  The majority of them will be sick for about a month, maybe yellow, may not be able to go back to work in that time.  So, the cost of them not working, paying taxes to the state of California, etc., should be factored into all of this. They’ll feel pretty sick and lousy. And have they transmitted it to their spouse or significant others or their children even?  Just because there was one child potentially who brought it in doesn’t mean that only children are the carriers of hepatitis A in this state.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do want to get to Ms. Loe Fisher and Ms. Smethers.  I just haven’t given them enough time.  Dr. Gitnick, we’ll get right back to you because I know you want to weigh in.


MS. SMETHERS:  I’ve got several issues here that I’d like to comment on.  One is the screening process.  If you go into a pediatrician’s office and he knows you and you have a history and a chart and all of that, that’s all well and good.  But I have spent whole eight-hour days in health fairs for another reason, watching a line that never ends of children coming in for their free vaccinations that are never asked anything other than “Are you allergic to eggs or horse serum?”


This is a population of low-income, immigrant families.  Southern California is awful close to the Mexican border.  We have a lot of issues with healthcare access for these folks.  There’s a whole population that’ll fall right through the cracks of that screening process, aside from the fact that some of them don’t even know any kind of family history, genetics, any of that thing, even if you could ask them the questions that might be significant in screening out those high-risk individuals.


Very recently in the newspaper, down where I live, there’s a story of an eight-year-old boy.  You talk about children that you’ve seen who have had terrible sequelae from not being vaccinated.  This young man was a healthy baby, healthy enough to have his third DPT shot, after which, immediately, he started having seizures.  He had seizures so constantly that they tried every kind of medicine known and combinations that eventually did not control his seizures anymore.  He just went through brain surgery.  They removed a section of his brain to stop his seizures.  


You talk about California dollars.  This family’s dollars has to be weighed between three children and their entire life and the fact that the mother can’t work because she takes care of this boy, who has recovered remarkably, I might add, but is now a post-brain-surgery person, and that will be affected in his life – in his employment, in his insurance – in all the avenues where we look forward to seeing our children being successful.  The dollars and cents in this family is horrendous and the cost of the family integrity, because this one child has taken all of the attention, all of the dollars, all of the energy of the parents, and there are two other children in the family as well.  They’ve done a remarkable job, but that’s just one case.


I don’t know about how many cases you hear about but I hear about a lot of them, the same kind of impact on the family:  dollars, energy, emotion, integrity.  All of that happens over and over and over again.  There has to be some kind of balance.


Drawing from my own experience here on hepatitis A and the newborn nursery issue, I worked in the newborn nursery issue with Kaiser.  I worked at Kaiser for almost 30 years.  I started out in the operating room, and when we had chapped hands, we didn’t work.  


So, if we could somehow get the things that can be done done, educating day care about washing hands and how to handle diapers, assuming that everybody’s infected, just like you do in the hospital – the universal precautions – and that’s a big order and I don’t know that it would ever be successful – but it seems to me that that would be something that wouldn’t cost the same kind of money, and it would stop a lot of the transmission.  And the nurses who have chapped hands shouldn’t be there.  Simple.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Loe Fisher, and I know Dr. Gitnick, and I neglected to go back to Dr. Smith who, I think, wants to weigh in.


MS. LOE FISHER:  I have to set the record straight on DPT vaccine.  I am a lay expert in DPT vaccine.  


Dr. Blumberg, you are an infectious disease specialist, and I am sure that you are aware of the National Childhood Encephalopathy Study in Britain that showed that one in 110,000 DPT shots is followed by encephalitis; one in 310,000 DPT shots causes permanent brain damage.  That was validated by the Institute of Medicine in 1994, and the majority of compensation awards under the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act are for DPT vaccine brain damage.


So, vaccines do carry risks.  I think that it’s important for the public trust for that admission to be made, particularly by infectious disease specialists.  No, we don’t want our kids to die from infectious diseases, but we don’t want them to die and be hurt by vaccines either.


I would just like to point out on hepatitis A, the 66 percent of eligible children in Butte County that got those free hepatitis B vaccinations, it did drop.  My understanding is that was a voluntary program.  It was free vaccines, and the parents voluntarily had their children vaccinated.  This argues for voluntary uptake. 


I think the same thing is true for Prevnar.  This vaccine is voluntarily being used.  This state would be the first state, to my knowledge, to have a Prevnar vaccine mandate.  I may be wrong, but I think it would be.  I know that bill has been dropped, but I’m sure it’s going to come back.  I think you would be the fifth state for hepatitis A.  I believe Oregon, Oklahoma, Alaska, Connecticut, and there’s one other state I can’t think of right now, but you would be the fifth or sixth state that would be mandating hepatitis A across the board.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that’s an important point.  I’m going to allow the doctors to weigh in because it’s the very question I asked on hepatitis A.  


I was visited by someone who pointed to the state of Texas model, but what Texas did was to direct specific counties that saw high rates – and it’s a little more precise than a state school-age entry level, and I think Arizona is debating it now.  The other states mentioned – Oklahoma, etc. – demographically and populationwise, there are some differences with California that may speak more heavily in favor of a mandated vaccination, or not.  But I think it’s an important point.  That was one of the questions I asked and was going to ask again.  


The Butte County/Stanislaus data indeed was a voluntary program, but I’m also hearing at some point that may not be adequate.  Also, the models in other states and Texas, which may be more like California than other state, they have identified specific counties in which they are mandating hepatitis A.  Our health officers currently have the discretion to, in fact, impose that on a county-by-county basis, even though Dr. Rosenthal or somebody weighed in – Dr. Gitnick – who suggested disease knows no county boundaries, and we understand that.


I do want to get through the testimony.  It’s important.  Dr. Gitnick, Dr. Smith, and then I’m not sure who else is on the list.  Dr. Gitnick, you’ve been very patient.


DR. GITNICK:  Thank you, Senator.


I just want to reiterate a few points that have just come up.  First of all, I’m not aware of any scientifically proven incident in which hepatitis A vaccine has been shown to cause brain injury.  If it has occurred, I would put it to you that it’s incumbent on us to show that it’s occurred with greater frequency than hepatitis A infection has resulted in liver transplantation or any other deadly sequelae.  I would put it to you that those latter deadly sequelae far exceed any possible, conceivable risk of brain injury.  I cannot believe that the scientific community would not have been aware of it by this day.  Anything in life is possible.


I would also like to say that with regard to hepatitis C, this vicious illness now accounts for 40 percent of all liver transplants done in the state of California.  Forty percent of all liver transplantations done in the state of California are due to hepatitis C.  The adult population with chronic hepatitis C infection is susceptible to hepatitis A, and hepatitis A will, in fact, worsen their disease and invite the need for liver transplantation.  We must keep that in mind in making these decisions.  You’re dealing with over a half million citizens.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And growing.


DR. GITNICK:  And growing.


Hepatitis A in the child, admittedly, is often a mild disease; sometimes a severe disease.  Hepatitis A in the adult is usually a severe disease, at least requiring loss of work.  I won’t go into the financial implications.  I’ve already talked to you about that.


Targeted hepatitis vaccination, when it was tried, failed.  Targeted hepatitis B vaccination failed and was dropped.  It didn’t work.  To eradicate this kind of viral disease, if we were to undertake eradication, the only known approach that I know of that would be effective would be vaccination at entry level to school.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Dr. Smith.


DR. SMITH:  I just had a couple of brief comments.  One is that I just wanted to comment that, in my opinion, vaccines are very safe.  They’re studied very carefully, as they should be, because we’re generally administering them to healthy children.


I certainly would not deny that there’s risk.  I think we all acknowledge that, but, again, the word “balance” has been used many times today, and it’s always a risk-benefit equation.  It’s clear that these diseases are very serious and do not at all compare to the risk from vaccines.


Secondly, just as an informational item about how much vaccine we’re using in California of hepatitis A vaccine, through our program we provide about 60 percent of the state’s vaccine.  As far as vaccine distributed in 1998, we distributed about 26,000 doses of vaccine.  Last year we were up to 1.3 million doses of vaccine and expect it to be even higher when we get the final numbers for 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s hepatitis A.


DR. SMITH:  That’s hepatitis A vaccine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  As we were struggling with these measures before us – two, if not three – what was troubling to me is that we make policy and I want to make sure that when we make policy, like a mandated vaccine, that it’s really based on some professional input from the medical community but also from the State Department of Health Services.  There’s some confusion as to whether or not your branch could play a role.


What I understand your testimony to suggest – and, by the way, what do we have, fifteen mandated vaccines now before school age?


DR. SMITH:  Less than that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not much less; maybe twelve.


DR. SMITH:  It depends if you’re talking about diseases or vaccines.


UNIDENTIFIED:  I thought it was eleven.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, mandated eleven for parents to get their children vaccinated before they can go to school.  All of those, it sounds like, have occurred primarily between 1962 and, most recently, 2001.  Most of them, it appears, occurred as mandated through the ’60s and ’70s, it sounds like, when we discovered a lot of information on disease and we saw R & D.  


The role of the Legislature is, in fact, to mandate, and once we mandate, the role of your branch is, in fact, to pass regulations and implement.  But you cannot weigh in to say “this is good” or “this is bad.”  


DR. SMITH:  The actual statute does say that the Department can add diseases without going through the legislative process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does the Department have an official position on whether or not – because we didn’t have it before us in committee – whether or not we, as a state, should mandate a hepatitis A vaccination for every child before they enter kindergarten?


DR. SMITH:  No, it does not have an official position.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Will it have a position at some point, and if so, when?


DR. SMITH:  I do not know the answer.  I can reiterate that the Governor, in his veto message of a previous hepatitis A bill, listed some of his reasons why he was opposed to it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What were those reasons?


DR. SMITH:  Some of the reasons were that it was not yet licensed under aged two.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s now licensed, I take it.


DR. SMITH:  It’s still not licensed.  It’s for age two and above.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Age two and above.


DR. SMITH:  Right.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what we’re talking about.  It’s not licensed for age two and above.


DR. SMITH:  No, it is.  Excuse me if I misspoke.  It’s licensed for two and above, and the hope was that eventually it would be licensed for under two, when you give most of the vaccines.  There’s a combined hepatitis A and hepatitis B bill – a 

SAR-B vaccine that’s often used.  We do not have that for young children at this point.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We don’t have one vaccination that covers the two.


DR. SMITH:  Right.  So, the Governor expressed his—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To wait until that’s developed.


DR. SMITH:  Right.  I think part of it was thinking that perhaps it was a bit premature.  He said in his veto message he’d rather wait on widespread community acceptability.  At that time, the Academy of Pediatrics, as well as, you heard, the Health Officers, expressed concern about the bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The Pediatrics Association has not taken a position yet either.  Or they have.  The California or the national?


_____________:  The California American Academy of Pediatrics, they take positions for state issues.  They initially had opposed the hepatitis A bill, and they withdrew that opposition at the last hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does California have an official position in support now?


________________:  Yes, California has an official position of support.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  As well as the national, because I know before the committee it was very unclear.


_______________:  Yes, the national does support.  The national does recommend it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me go back to Dr. Smith.  You can’t certainly predict, but I suspect, based on the last veto message, coupled with the fiscal situation we’re facing now, I don’t think a mandated hepatitis A vaccination bill would likely get signed.  Maybe somebody else is seeing something here.  I don’t see it.  If, in fact, there is no position and if, in fact, the veto messages have not all been resolved, and our fiscal situation is even more dire or is dire and difficult now, I don’t see how we get a bill signed if it, in fact, were to reach the desk of the Governor this year.


I wish Mr. Vargas was here.


Anyway, I’m sorry; I interrupted your testimony.


DR. SMITH:  Oh no, that’s fine.  I’m finished.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me, in closing, say I appreciate and know it’s difficult for you to be here, because we always ask, “Why don’t you guys have a position?”  I will continue to say I think you guys should weigh in.  We rely on you.  I would love for you to give us direction.  You, by your own admission, have suggested that, aside from the discussion about whether or not these vaccinations have other health risks associated with them, there are other issues that are yet resolved.  Sometimes you don’t want to leave this important of a policy only up to those of us who are here, as much as we care about this.  This is the information we need, so I hope at some point we can get a clear, bright line direction from the Department.


But I thank you.


Dr. Prendergast, as well Dr. Samuelson.


DR. PRENDERGAST:  The only thing I wanted to mention was that we do have input from the Department in a relatively unrestricted way; certainly all of the technical information to the committee structure and to the California Conference of Local Health Officers.  We don’t always make recommendations that are in agreement with positions that the Department of Health Services’ staff would be in favor of, but I think we always have their input and we value it and use it.  Often, I think you would hear the same kinds of reservations that we wound up expressing showing up through the Department’s input and then into the Governor’s veto messages.  For better or for worse, I think sometimes that’s how it works.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Dr. Samuelson.


DR. SAMUELSON:  A couple of things came to me.  Of course, I’m known as a notorious bleeding-heart liberal.  On the vaccine cost issue, I just would point out that that was why we sponsored that universal vaccine purchase bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we probably passed it unanimously.


DR. SAMUELSON:  Right, I know.  Bunch of public health people there too.  


In any case, as a mom, I was very concerned about vaccine safety, and I have looked at that issue.  I just wanted to emphasize SIDS is falling, not rising.  It’s falling dramatically.  


The child with an unsuspected immunodeficiency who has a reaction to a chickenpox vaccine, for example, would die when they encountered wild-type varicella.  There’s no doubt about it – they’d be gone – because it’s a far more virulent virus.  Unsuspected immunodeficiency is quite rare, thank heavens.  And I’ll tell you, when I’m giving vaccines at schools or other venues, where people are there asking for their vaccines for their children and deeply grateful that we are there as volunteers to give free vaccines and save their children’s lives, we’re asking them some questions at this end of the line and then they’re getting up to this end and we’re giving them the shot.


Finally, with regard to some of the risks, it seems like it’s almost a fundamental point that you can’t put real risks on TV or in the newspaper.  Real risks are things like measles vaccine has a one-in-a-million chance of causing low platelets.  Well, wild-type measles cause it one-in-a-thousand times.  You have a one-thousand-fold reduction.  The risks are miniscule and they are far less than wild-type disease, and we know this not only from VARs, which is a very incomplete system – it’s supposed to be – but from the national Vaccine Safety Datalink, which is studying six million, I believe it is, children to find any excess diagnosis of any kind linked to immunization.  Six million.  That’s a lot.


Finally, when we look at any punitive reaction to a vaccine, you need to consider the occurrence in a population who’s not been vaccinated.  We do not see an excess of autism.  This child she mentioned – it’s moving, it’s tragic, it’s heart-

breaking – was probably a child with epilepsy, but a child with epilepsy is not better off for getting pertussis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a four o’clock meeting that my staff is giving me the evil eye on.  We have not allowed opportunity for public testimony, and I don’t want to spend a lot of time on refuting the absence of data to look at other risk factors.  I want to hone in on a couple of things.  


One is:  Why can’t we mandate hepatitis A when the hepatitis B mandate kicks in, in the seventh grade?  Wouldn’t this remove, whether it’s autism or other unknown risk factors or a child who’s very small or maybe outside the norm of the licensing processing data – why not require it when the child is older when we require the hepatitis B vaccination?


Any response from the doctors?


DR. ROSENTHAL:  You could.  Just to make a couple of comments though, the largest group of individuals are five to fourteen years of age, so you’d be getting the end of the children who would start middle school and that group that would have hepatitis A, because, predominantly, most kids with hepatitis A get it between two and five.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because of the hands and the hygiene issue.


DR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  It goes along with what was discussed.  One of the issues is that as good as everybody thinks they are with hygiene – and if education was better for hygiene it certainly would help – it hasn’t eliminated hepatitis A.  So, hygiene alone, unfortunately, is not good enough.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not an ideal vaccination in the seventh grade, but not outside of the—


DR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  And along the lines that you mentioned about the Governor’s concerns about combination vaccines, etc., there is a combination vaccine that’s only been approved for use in adults.  There is a hepatitis A-hepatitis B vaccine.  Hepatitis C patients, for example, could benefit from that.  It’s not approved in children.  Children get the hepatitis B vaccine.  The recommendation has just come out that all children get hepatitis B vaccine before they go home from the nursery actually, and since the hepatitis A vaccine isn’t licensed—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, I suspect we’ll see a hepatitis B before kids enter school before the committee as well.


DR. ROSENTHAL:  But that’s one of the reasons why the combination couldn’t be done in the newborn period because the A is not licensed until you’re over two years of age.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do want to provide an opportunity for public comment, and I do have a four o’clock meeting, and I have very little leeway on that one.  If you could all stay seated, there may be questions that might be best answered by those of you who are the specialists here.


I would welcome our first speaker.  I apologize, but we’re on a really tight timeline.


Welcome.


MR. RICK ROLLINS:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members, and personal thanks to you, Senator Ortiz, for holding this hearing because I think it’s a timely and important issue.


My name is Rick Rollins.  As many of you know, I worked here in the Capitol building for over two decades, serving the Senate in a number of capacities, including chief of staff to a state senator, a chief consultant to Senate Rules Committee, director and creator of the Office of Senate Floor Analyses, and the Secretary of the Senate.  


My twenty-three-year career with the Senate came to an end in 1996, when I resigned my position as Secretary of the Senate, in order to further dedicate myself to the pursuit of effective treatments and a cure for my beloved son, Russell.  I’m passing out to you copies of my testimony and also the copy of the Newsweek article with my son Russell’s picture on the cover.


When we talk about cost-benefit ratio, we should also talk about the human cost-benefit ratio.  When your son and child is damaged by a vaccine, it all of a sudden becomes a one hundred percent risk that that vaccine has caused your child.


I’m here today to share with you the story of my son’s case of vaccine-induced autism and the exploding autism epidemic in California.


Russell began his life as a normal healthy and robust child, meeting all of his age-appropriate milestones.  At seven months old, after receiving a series of vaccines, including his third DPT and first Hib vaccine, Russell began the slow and insidious process of slipping into the world of autism.  Within hours of these shots, Russell began a nonstop, ten-day period of high-pitched screaming, fevers, and listlessness; conditions that his pediatrician nor anyone else in the medical practice ever recognized as an adverse vaccine reaction.  After seven short months of normal development in this world, Russell’s life had changed forever, as well as the lives of all who know and love him.


Even today, ten years later, the physical pain and suffering that Russell experiences after those shots continues to be part of his daily life.  Physical pain is something that all children with vaccine-induced regressive autism suffer from.  Within days after his first MMR vaccine, Russell began his final journey into the abyss of regressive autism, losing most of his remaining skills, developing severe sleep disruptions, chronic gastrointestinal problems, autoimmune problems, a worsening of his already disturbing behaviors, and suffering pain exhibited by harrowing days of endless crying.  Within months, Russell was officially diagnosed with autism.


After months of medical investigation of Russell’s condition, including state-of-the-art brain scans, hundreds of tests and immunological and neurological work-ups, we consulted a noted pediatric neurologist who thoroughly examined Russell and reviewed all of Russell’s medical history.  He advised us that, in part, Russell’s brain dysfunction had very likely occurred as a result of some sort of encephalitis, resulting in bilateral hypometabolism in the temporal lobes of his brain.


Based on years of medical investigation that we have done on our son, along with the strong temporal relationship between the timing of the vaccinations he received, the reactions of the vaccines, and the onset of the symptoms of his condition, as well as the scientifically-based knowledge that one of the many serious side effects of certain vaccines is brain swelling and encephalitis, I believe Russell is a victim of vaccine-induced autism.


My story is not unique.  I would challenge every Member of this committee to talk to the growing number of your constituents who are rapidly becoming the parents of children with autism.  I can assure you that you will hear, firsthand, accounts from a disturbing number of the parents of a normally developing child, the introduction and reaction to a vaccine or multiple vaccines, the timing of the children’s regression and vaccination, and the insidious onset of the multitude of other medical conditions and complications that accompany this acquired autistic condition.


Just briefly on the autism question, this Legislature supported work at the M.I.N.D. Institute.  As a parent of a child with autism, I’m so grateful for all the work that you’ve done.  I wish Senator Kuehl was here because she asked a question about who’s doing the research.  I’m proud to say that the M.I.N.D. Institute has undertaken a lot of this research, and we’ll be getting some of these answers to the questions that she raised.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to interrupt you, Mr. Rollins, because I do know that there was a preliminary report that was issued last year.


MR. ROLLINS:  And I’ll talk about that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just want to let Members know that information is available.  I would encourage you to take advantage of reading that first report that has some pretty alarming data.  It may or may not be related to this, but I think it’s important for us to understand what we’re seeing in California.


MR. ROLLINS:  Since 1980, the number of new cases of autism in California has and continues to increase at an alarming rate.  Throughout the past twenty-two years, California has experienced an increasing epidemic of autism, precisely during the same time that we aggressively have added fourteen additional doses of vaccines to the mandated Childhood Immunization Schedule and increased the frequency of vaccines given at a younger and younger age.  Over 80 percent – that’s 8 out of 10 persons – in the entire system in California with autism were born after 1980 – the same year as California law mandated for the first time that all children provide proof of immunizations before entering school; therefore, requiring for the first time that all California children entering school receive the full complement of the then-mandated 23 doses of vaccines.  The measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine, which has been suspected in causing autism as well and has been published in the literature, including The Lancet, was also added to the Childhood Immunization Schedule in 1979-1980.  


According to data from the Department of Developmental Services, autism is now the number one disability entering California’s developmental services system.  The year 2001 brought yet another in a series of 20 percent increases over the previous year in the number of new cases entering the California system.  As documented in the report, Senator Ortiz, that you referred to, by the Department of Developmental Services, autism increased 273 percent over an eleven-year period, while the population of California grew by only 19 percent, and other disabilities, including mental retardation, experienced a predictable population adjusted increase.


Over the three-year period since the release of that report, we have added an additional 6,600 new cases of fully diagnosed DSM-4 autism to our regional center system – in a system that DDS estimates will cost taxpayers well over $2 million for each new child with autism.  Two out of three persons in our system today are young children between the ages of three and thirteen years old.  California’s developmental services system is currently adding, on average, eight new children a day with autism, seven days a week, or one new child every three hours.


Finally, the science on the safety of vaccines and the relationship to the cause or contribution to the development of autism is simply not there.  Not until independent science, free from the influence of the powerful vaccine manufacturers and public health communities, whose job it is to eradicate every infectious disease on earth – this research is underway, this independent research at places like the M.I.N.D. Institute that is examining not numbers but biological mechanisms on how vaccines may be causing autism – will we discover the truth.


Thousands of us have suffered as parents the ultimate betrayal of trust by blindly allowing our precious children to be injected with dozens of vaccines, trusting that those responsible for vaccine safety have made sure that my child and thousands of others like him could not develop autism after exposure to agents that contain such potent neurotoxins such as mercury, aluminum, formaldehyde, and live viruses and genetically altered bacteria.


I thank you for the opportunity before your committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony.  The M.I.N.D. Institute is going to be focusing on a lot of those studies that have yet to be done, and we may not have answers definitely ever, but at least we know research is underway, which I think is important.  I know the Legislature has been very, very generous in funding the M.I.N.D. Institute.  We certainly are not going to be able to fund much this year or next year.


Thank you so much, Mr. Rollins.


How many other speakers do we have for public comment?  Unfortunately, I do need to run to a very important meeting, so if we could get a sense of how many other speakers there are under public comment.  Please come forward.  Three speakers.  


I’m going to ask Mr. Vincent to please handle things.  My staff will stay here.  I apologize, but we have some difficult budget decisions to make and I’ve got to run.


I want to thank all the speakers.  I’m going to turn it over to Senator Ed Vincent.  I think we’ll be chatting with you as follow-up.  Thank you for everything.


Assemblymember Vargas, I appreciate the fact that you did withhold your bill until we had this hearing.  Certainly, we will probably be moving, depending on what the author chooses to do, but this is going to provide us with valuable information.  So thank you.


I apologize for having to depart.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  We certainly appreciate all your efforts and spending your time.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Would you identify yourself, sir, and make your statement please?


MR. VICTOR FADAYEL:  My name is Victor Fadayel, and I’m here today to speak to you about children on the front line.  If anyone in the audience is responsible speaking for those children, I think it is me.


I’m the father of Miriam Fadayel, who got polio from the vaccine when she was two months old.  She lived to be seven years old and passed away last October the third at UCSF, in San Francisco, as a complication of all the disease that she got from the vaccine.


My question to the panel is:  Where were you when Miriam was vaccinated and your policies?  How come we were not given that consent to sign?  And who are we to put those children on the front line?  If hepatitis really affects adults, and the majority of the dead people are adults, why are we going to sacrifice more kids like Miriam in the battle to stop a disease that is very questionable, in my point of view?


Say we vaccinate everybody for hepatitis A.  Are the people with hepatitis B and C going to be spared?  The answer is no, they’re not.  They might die of any other complications.


The safety of the vaccines – I would like to ask how many parents really got this pamphlet we’re talking about, about the safety of that vaccine, the day that they went to their doctor for their child with an ear infection, and then all of a sudden the doctor says, “Wow, they’re two months old.  Let’s go give them their vaccines.”  


That’s what happened to Miriam.  Miriam had an ear infection when she went to her doctor November the fourteenth, and instead of looking at the chart – with our system and the way it works, a doctor sees 80 patients in eight hours.  How much time do they have to read the chart and see whether or not that child has a fever before they give them the vaccines?


This is why I’m here.  The system has failed us.  To mandate the system more and more and more, where does it stop, Assemblyman Vargas – Chair?  Every time there’s a new disease in town, we just put our children on the front line again and say, “go fight”?


The science is not there yet to make sure that every child that’s vaccinated will live to tell about it the next day.  Miriam was blue the same night.  My wife, who’s an RN, had to resuscitate her, call an ambulance.  How many kids got their vaccines, went home, and never lived the next morning to tell about it?  There’s no answer for that.


For us to mandate more soldiers for the front line is something beyond me.  If Miriam was alive here today, she would stand up and say, “Stop.”  If you want to put more soldiers on the front line, choose older kids, please.


Thank you.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you for your comments.  Appreciate them.


The next person, please identify yourself and make the statement you wish to make at this time.


MS. DAWN WINKLER:  Hi, my name is Dawn Winkler, and I’m here on behalf of California Vaccine Awareness.


I want to express my sincere gratitude today not only for this opportunity to share my concerns but for taking this important step toward better understanding both sides of the vaccine issue and reassessing the process by which we mandate vaccination in the future.  Thank you for holding this informational hearing.


I come here today on behalf of California parents who have contacted my organization, California Vaccine Awareness.  Having been involved with this issue for nearly six years now, I have witnessed parents become increasingly concerned about the safety, efficacy, and necessity of our CORE vaccination program.  This is partly due to many parents experiencing, firsthand, negative consequences from vaccination and partly due to this new trend that we are seeing, which is to mandate more and more vaccinations for school entry without regard to the possible side effects or a clear lack of necessity.


For an example, many of the CORE vaccinations that we’ve been using for years were for diseases that did have significant mortality associated with them at one time.  Hepatitis A in children doesn’t fall into that category and neither does hepatitis B.  Parents are starting to say, “When and where are we going to draw a line with mandating vaccination?”


Chickenpox, another example.  Kids are getting that vaccine with no significant mortality associated in kids with chickenpox.  In other words, the more we mandate, the more parents question.  It’s almost like a fair warning:  The more you mandate, the more parents start to look at not just the new vaccines but the entire vaccine issue.


I just happen to be one of those parents who have witnessed, firsthand, negative effects of vaccination.  My daughter was born completely healthy, full term, and received the hepatitis B vaccine the day she was born, despite no risk.  She was not at risk for hepatitis B but somehow she needed that vaccine.  She became jaundiced immediately.  She was jaundiced for weeks, not just your typical few days after birth but for weeks.  Even so, my doctor insisted she receive the next hepatitis B vaccine, so we did that at the age of one month.  Then she received her two-month series.  Right after that she developed eczema.  She had the four-month series.  The eczema got worse, and then she started severe milk allergy and then the hypotonic-hyporesponsive episodes, where she would stare off into space and we couldn’t get her attention, and then I found her dead, and her death was labeled SIDS – Sudden Infant Death Syndrome.


For a year I accepted that SIDS is a mystery – “We don’t know what causes that” – and then I decided to do some research because I was pregnant with my son and I had to know.  I had to know for sure what killed my child.  So, I researched peer-reviewed medical journals.  Not the Internet.  I went to a university library and I dug out everything I could on SIDS, and what I found was appalling.  There has been a suspected link between SIDS and vaccines for years.  Based on my research, I’m convinced that my daughter died from vaccination that was labeled Sudden Infant Death Syndrome.


Incidentally, the National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program has paid 93 families whose children’s deaths were labeled SIDS since the inception of that program.  I found out about the program too late to file a claim.  Even if I had known, 75 percent of claims are thrown out, and would the $250,000 maximum amount for death have brought my daughter back?  No.


My son, and only child, often asks me why Haley didn’t get to grow up, and I don’t have an answer for that right now for him.  How do I explain that?  Over the years I’ve spoken with many parents of children who’ve been damaged or killed by vaccination.  Many of them have been through the compensation program and received compensation, and the injury has been determined vaccine-induced.


Vaccine reactions are real, and I’m not going to argue about the incidence or whether or not they exist.  I’m just going to tell you that, after six years of reading medical literature, they’re real and they’re documented.  Please don’t be swayed by the fact that California has an exemption in place for those who choose not to vaccinate, because most people are not aware of it, and if they are – I received many calls last year of parents who were actually lied to by their school – their nurse, their registrar.  Whoever it was they were dealing with told them, “No, there is no exemption.”  Actually, one went as far as to tell the parent that you all passed legislation taking our exemptions away.  It’s not true.  That’s what the parent was told.


So, yes, we have an exemption, but that’s another issue that needs to be looked at is the legal rights of parents are not respected.


Currently, there’s no disease in California posing a significant threat to children for which we do not already have a mandated vaccine.  We simply cannot justify asking parents to take the risk of hepatitis A when the disease poses no significant threat to their children.  You have to ask yourselves what is behind the push for this particular vaccine.  Is it truly for public health, or is it profit-driven?


I want to assure you that, as a committee, you have the skills necessary to evaluate and interpret the situation and come to a fair, rational conclusion.  You simply need more information, and this hearing is a great start.  All proposed vaccine mandates in the future warrant this type of forum in which all interested parties can come together and provide you with accurate information.


Thank you once again for this opportunity to share my concerns with you today and for holding this hearing.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you very much.  


There’s one more person.  Please identify yourself.


DR. JAMES KEPPLER:  I am Dr. James Keppler, doctor of chiropractic.  I’ve been a doctor of chiropractic for thirty-four years.  I want to thank the committee for allowing me to speak today, and I’m glad we’re having this meeting.  I just found out about the meeting at 1:30 today.


I recently was exposed to this book, The Sanctity of the Human Blood.  I knew through my whole lifetime – I was raised in a chiropractic family – that vaccinations were not healthy or good, and, thus, I was not vaccinated.  As a result, in this book here, it gives approximately 150 research studies and different studies and viewpoints and information that has come out, showing the other side of the vaccination story.  Anyway, this book is available for the committee, if they would like it.


I think experimentation on our children, as I heard earlier in the testimony today, that are kids are being experimented on – the testimony by some of the witnesses here – I think is quite valid.  I feel that the adverse reactions to vaccinations perhaps is not being given credit or exposed.


I would like the committee to demand the research given behind these mandated hepatitis A studies they’re going to experiment on our children.  I’ve asked my patients about their children who have been vaccinated – were they told of the possible side effects that aluminum or mercury can have on their nerve system?  A neurotoxin is a light term for killing brain cells.  It interrupts and disrupts the communication of a developing child, where he doesn’t have the chance of being normal like a kid who wouldn’t be exposed or injected into his body mercury, aluminum, formaldehyde – I forget the other stuff.  But I think a parent needs to have that information.  From my research with my patients, it’s not being given.


Children who have a history of having reactions to prior drugs should be looked into.  This area should be asked of the patients.  They’re not asked if they’ve also had respiratory problems, if they’ve had any other reactions, or other diseases the vaccination could affect.  


Another thing is that, according to Merck’s manual, the current edition, it’s a mild, self-limiting disease and always is resolved in four to eight weeks.  I’m sorry, but this issue has been put through as a high-risk mandated factor that all children must receive hepatitis A when the basis doesn’t support it.  It’s being put through as high risk so it can be mandated, but where’s the research?  Don’t research on the children.


I have parents who have damaged children as a result of these vaccinations.  If you’re a parent and have a child that’s been injured, that’s a heavy penalty to pay if you were not informed that that was a risk of the vaccination for a condition that wasn’t as bad as the reaction.  


Another issue is, by giving vaccinations across the board, it exposes every child in this population to infectious vectors that they would never have perhaps been exposed to before.  That’s exposing a child directly to these conditions, and it’s unproven.  It’s a rare condition.  There’s no long-term studies.  There’s no studies on this.


One of the big things is, if it’s mercury they’re putting into the vaccination – whatever they’re going to put the base in – there is a $20,000 offer put out by Jock Doubleday, the president of the Natural Woman, Natural Man, Inc., for any medical doctor who, if he himself, would drink the additives – not the bacteria or the viruses – just drink the additives of the average six-year-old, that licensed doctor would receive $20,000.  This came out last year, January 29, 2001, and no takers.  Is there something perhaps wrong with vaccinations?  Maybe it’s the mercury that’s in there.  Maybe it’s the other stuff.  But I beg the panel to look at this and review it.  


I’ll pass this around if you would like this information too.


But I think that safety is the most important thing that has to be regarded here, and if you’re the families, I think the money issue shouldn’t be the issue here but safety for our children and the studies to match it and back it up.


I thank the panel for listening to my testimony.  I appreciate it very much.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you, Doctor.  Appreciate your comments.


We have one more person.  Identify yourself and make your statement, and we’ll wrap this meeting up.


MS. SASHA SARNOFF:  Thank you.  


My name is Sasha Sarnoff.  I’m a mom and I’ve been volunteering time with California Vaccine Awareness.  I just want to thank everybody who came today giving testimony and information.  It was really very enlightening.  I appreciate that we have hearings and that we have an opportunity to really find out what the truth is and really get a bigger picture of what the big concerns are.


For me, what I’m really concerned about is screening.  Predominantly, it seems that there’s very little screening.  Line-them-up-and-shoot-them vaccines.  I see that even with flu shots.  At my local drugstore, they’re advocating anyone who has an immune system that’s more delicate – old people, children, anyone who might be at risk – should get the flu shot.  I was looking at this, going, well, wait a minute.  This is like the opposite.  People who have immune problems are probably higher at risk from having a problem from a vaccine and, yet, they’re the very ones targeted.  It’s a really odd situation with vaccines.  If the very people who are at risk are the ones being targeted to get the vaccines, then what is that saying?  


On the other hand, I want to mention something that I saw in passing, accompanying a mother and her daughter to a medical exam.  It was an office visit with an immunologist allergist, top in his field, where I live in Santa Barbara, California.  He was proceeding to give this child, who has a severe anaphylactic allergy to milk and egg – this is her main, chief complaint; this was a young child – he was proceeding to give her a vaccine injection.  He was right there, ready to go, and at the very last minute, the mom said, “Wait!  Stop!  Is that an egg-based vaccine?”


He said, “Yes, why?”


She goes, “My kid is anaphylactic to egg!”


The doctor totally missed it.  This is the top in his field – allergist.  He missed it.  I’m telling you, if he can miss it, your average medical doctor, who’s just in a family practice, who sees kids all day long and he’s giving vaccines, I’ll tell you, they’re going to miss it.  That’s how serious this is.  This is no joke.


I think that doctors do not take how serious a vaccine injection is.  If a child has a cold, if they didn’t ask the parent, “Hey, has your kid had a cold in the last week?” – if they forget to ask and they don’t see a runny nose; they take a temperature, they seem fine – they’re going to go ahead.  There isn’t a lot of screening.  


For me, when I saw that go down in that doctor’s office, I was horrified somebody of that caliber in the medical field would miss it.  The only reason the mother knew is she was so in tune – she’s a freak; she reads every medical thing she can get her hand on because she has an anaphylactic kid – she happened to know there was egg in the vaccine.  No other parent would have caught it.  Most parents have no idea there are even risks to vaccines, much less what’s in them in terms of ingredients.


The other question I have is, in the ingredients we’ve got formaldehyde in vaccines.  Formaldehyde is a known carcinogen, which puts it, in my opinion, as a very dangerous ingredient.  But on top of that, I think Proposition 65 would be a good place to begin looking why parents aren’t informed that their child is getting a known carcinogen injected into their system and there’s no consent there about that specific, known carcinogen.  Why aren’t parents told?  I was never told.  I had a pediatrician who was extremely knowledgeable about vaccines.  He was one of the cutting-edge doctors knowledgeable on vaccines.  He never notified me there were known carcinogens in the vaccines my daughter was given.


So, I think there are huge, huge problems within the medical community in notifying parents about the risks.  What are on those inserts?  Who knows?  Were those vaccines handled carefully?  Were they kept under temperature control at all times?  Did nurses leave them out on the counter for a couple of hours while they had lunch, forgetting to put them back in the refrigerator and they sat out and they’ve been compromised?  And if they were compromised, is that dangerous?  Or is it just an ineffective vaccine?


One last question – I listened to this whole thing – why, if adults are the main group at risk of hepatitis A, why aren’t they given a mandate to have that vaccination, anyone over the age of twenty-one?  Let the kids get hepatitis A; get a natural immunity.  They’re not at risk of the disease per se.  Let the adults get a mandate.  I’ve never seen a mandate for an adult.  I don’t think adults would go for it, and I think you guys all know that.  No adult’s going to take a mandate for a vaccine, but kids – kids will.  


I was told at school that if the kids I brought in were not vaccinated, that they would not be allowed admission.  I actually knew the law, and I said, “No, that’s not true.  I have an exemption based on philosophical reasons,” and I was told we don’t have that.  I had to go to the superintendent’s office to get it cleared up.  The registrar did not know that.  Most people just go in and get railroaded through the system.


In closing, I think we’d better really take a look at this seriously.  Thank you.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Okay, thank you very much for your comments.


We’re about to end here.  It’s pretty difficult to substitute or pitch hit for Senator Ortiz.  She did an outstanding job, and I really appreciate the fact that she had this informational hearing.  She’s shown tremendous leadership in the Senate regarding health issues.  She spends a lot of time and she’s really to be congratulated for all she does.


I’d also like to thank you, on the panel, very much for being here and staying and listening to the testimony and participating in many ways.  I was going to say some things earlier, which I won’t say now, but you folks are the experts and we certainly appreciate what you have to say.  You stayed here so long and listened to public comments and I appreciate that.  We’ve got a lot to do and we’re listening to you.  You are the experts.


I also would like to say thanks to Assemblyman Vargas.  There were some other Assembly people who had health bills relating to the same topic who seem to have pulled out, based on some of the things that you’ve said.  Assemblyman Vargas was here but he had to leave.  He’s going to continue to work with this committee to try to resolve some of the situations he has in his bill, as I understand from Senator Ortiz, and we certainly appreciate his activity and his mindset for not moving these bills forward until they’re thoroughly analyzed and we feel that it’s the right thing to do. 


I know I’ve learned a lot today, listening to what you had to say.  It’s been very valuable to this committee.  I know Senator Ortiz will be in touch with you. 


Again, I appreciate everything you’ve done, how long you’ve been here.  We certainly appreciate it.


With that, this meeting is adjourned.  Thank you very much.
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